Aus der Klinik für Infektiologie und Pneumologie der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

#### DISSERTATION

A semi-synthetic glycoconjugate vaccine for *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotype 3 confers short-term protection against pneumonia in mice.

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doctor medicinae (Dr. med.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Roland L. Bell aus NY, NY. U.S.A.

Datum der Promotion: 05.03.2021

## **Foreword**

This thesis is based on data collected in pre-clinical *in-vitro* and *in-vivo* evaluations of a novel semi-synthetic glykoconjugate vaccine candidate against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotype-3. The study is the product of a collaborative effort between the working groups of Prof. Dr. Peter H. Seeberger, Director at the Max-Planck Institute of Colloids and Interfaces in Potsdam, and the laboratories of Prof. Dr. Leif Erik Sander and Prof. Dr. Martin Witzenrath at the Department of Internal Medicine, Infectious Diseases and Pulmonary Medicine (Clinical Director: Prof. Dr. Norbert Suttorp) at the Charité - Universitätsmedizin in Berlin, Germany. Development and production of the vaccine was undertaken by Prof. Dr. Seeberger's group, the pre-clinical evaluations described in this thesis were conducted at the laboratories at Charité – Universitätsmedizin in Berlin.

*The results described in this monograph were partially published in:* Parameswarappa SG, Reppe K, Geissner A, Ménová P, Govindan S, Calow ADJ, Wahlbrink A, Weishaupt MW, Monnanda BP, Bell RL, Pirofski LA, Suttorp N, Sander LE, Witzenrath M, Pereira CL, Anish C, Seeberger PH. A Semi-synthetic Oligosaccharide Conjugate Vaccine Candidate Confers Protection against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* Serotype 3 Infection Cell Chemistry and Biology. Volume 23, Issue 11, p1407–1416, 17 November 2016.

Specific contributions: Figure 5- Page 1412, Figure 6-Page 1413, Figure 7-Seite 1414, and Figures S5 & S6 in ,Supplemental Figures'.

# **Table of Contents**

Foreword	2
I. Abstract	6
II. Introduction	8
II. A. Epidemiology and the Implications for Public Health	8
II. A. i. Pneumococcal Infections Globally	8
II. A. ii. Disease Burden in Low-Income Countries	9
II. A. iii. Disease Burden in Europe and the United States	10
II. B. Vaccination as an approach to pneumococcal disease-control and prevention	11
II. B. i. Current vaccines and mechanisms of inducing immunity to S. pneumoniae	13
II. B. ii. Challenges in Vaccine Production	16
II. B. iii. Rational Vaccine-Design	17
II. B. iv. Innate Immunity and Vaccines	18
II. B. v. Preliminary Results from Studies in Mice.	19
II. B. vi. WHO Guidelines for Vaccine Development	20
III. A. In vitro / ex vivo-Studies	22
III. A. i. Materials	22
III. A. ii. Methods	30
III. B. In–Vivo Studies	31
III. B. i. Materials	31
III. B. ii. Methods	32
IV. Results	34
IV. Pooled reference serum from immunized humans potently opsonizes and facilitates killing	of
SP3 bacteria by HL-60 derived pseudogranulocytes or peripheral human neutrophils and complement.	34
IV. A. i. ELISA for verification of IgG concentration.	34
IV. A. ii. OPAs as a tool for functional assessment of immunogenicity in response to vaccina	ation.
	34
IV. B. Results from Short Term Vaccination Studies.	37
IV. B. i. Preliminary Studies	37
IV. B. ii. Establishment and Execution of In Vivo Experiments	40

IV. B. iii. In vitro/ex vivo Data from Challenge Experiments	. 56
IV. C. Results from the Long-Term Vaccination Study.	. 58
IV. C. i. Clinical Data: appearance, bodyweight and temperature.	. 58
IV. C. ii. Bacterial Burden in the Lung and in Blood	. 61
IV. C. iii. Leukocyte Counts in the Lung and in Blood	. 64
IV. C. iv. Pulmonary Endothelial Permeability	. 65
V. Discussion	. 67
V. A. Short-Term Immunity	. 67
V. B. Long-Term Immunity	. 71
VI. Conclusions	. 75
VII. Bibliography	. 76
VIII. Eidesstattliche Erklärung	. 85
IX. Anteilserklärung an etwaigen erfolgten Publikationen	. 85
X. Lebenslauf	. 87
XI. Publikationen	. 87
XII. Thanks	. 88

# **Tables and Figures**

Figure 1. Global prevalence of *S pneumoniae* in children by serotype (p.8) Figure 2. Regional mortality associated with *S pneumoniae* by serotype (p.10) Figure 3. Geographical distribution of deaths attributable to S. pneumoniae in children (p. 10) Figure 4. Frequency of Penicillin resistance in S. pneumoniae before PCV7 (p. 11) Table 1. Summary of previously developed vaccines (p.12) Figure 6. Author's rendering of *S. pneumoniae* (p.13) Figure 7. Author's rendering of S. pneumoniae cell-wall cross section. (p. 14) Figure 8. Two pathways in the response to PSV-Author's rendering (p. 15-16) Figure 9. Average growth-rate of viable HL-60 cells over time (p. 23) Figure 10. Relative growth and mortality of HL-60 cells in varied solutions of DMF (p. 24) Figure 11 A- F. Micrographs of HL-60 cells with Giemsa stain and nitroblue tetrazolium (p. 26) Figure 12. A-F. Micrographs of HL-60 cells stimulated with a 75 mM solution of DMF (p. 27) Figure 13 A-F. Micrographs of HL-60 cells stimulated with a 50 mM solution of DMF (p. 28) Figure 14. Micrographs, of Giemsa-Pappenheim stained peripheral neutrophils (p. 29) Figure 15. Author's rendering of the process of opsonization of S. pneumoniae (p. 36) Figure 16. A comparison of bacterial killing curves using two compliment sources (p. 36) Figure 17. OPAs utilizing peripheral human neutrophils as effector cells (p. 37) Figure 18. Time-line of vaccinations, followed by infection and OPA (p. 39) Figure 19. OPAs utilizing pooled sera from 6 mice treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide (p. 38) Figure 20-A. Killing achieved with Pooled sera in a pre-immune state (p. 39) Figure 20-B. Killing achieved with Pooled sera 4 weeks following primary vaccination (p. 39) Figure 21. Selection of mean bacterial killing capacity in OPA of pooled sera (p. 40) Figure 22. Body weight over time in the 48 hours following pneumococcal challenge (p. 42) Figure 23. Average body weight of mice 48h post-challenge (p. 42) Figure 24. Average body-temperature following pneumococcal infection (p. 43) Figure 25. Body-temperature 48 hours post pneumococcal challenge (p. 44) Figure 26. CFU counts obtained from BALF (p. 45) Figure 27. Bacterial load in lung-tissue post pneumococcal challenge (p. 46) Figure 28. CFU counts in whole blood 48 hours after pneumococcal challenge (p. 47) Figure 29. Leukocyte counts in BALF 48 hours post pneumococcal infection (p. 48)

- Figure 30. A-F. Figure 13-A: Differential cell-counts of BALF obtained using FACS (p. 50)
- Figure 31. Absolute cell counts in whole-blood after pneumococcal challenge (p. 51)
- Figure 32. A-F. FACS analysis of leukocyte populations in whole blood. (p. 53)

### I. Abstract

Introduction: Streptococcus pneumoniae represents a significant cause of global morbidity and mortality in both children and adults. While there are vaccines currently available that can convey immunity to some of the major serotypes of S. pneumoniae, limited access to vaccines in low-income countries leads to insufficient coverage of those populations, and the shifting prevalence of serotypes coupled with bacterial resistance to antibiotics is a serious development in the US and Europe. The rational design of semi-synthetic glycoconjugate vaccines represents a novel method for effective and economical vaccine production, and is therefore a viable strategy for addressing these problems. A new oligosaccharide-conjugate vaccine against S. pneumoniae serotype 3 (SP3), produced by glycan synthesis developed by the working group of Prof. Dr. Peter H. Seeberger (Max Planck Institute für Kolloid- und Grenzflächenforschung, MPIKG) has shown promise as one being able to induce serological responses. Here, we tested the ability of this vaccine candidate to confer immunity in a mouse model of S. pneumoniae infection. Methods: In the current study, we conducted preclinical in-vitro and in-vivo experiments, in accordance with WHO-guidelines for the assessment of novel vaccines, to examine the relative efficacy and safety of a novel, semisynthetic glycoconjugate vaccine for S. pneumoniae serotype 3 (SP3). In vitro experiments encompassed opsonophagocytosis assays implementing either differentiated HL-60 cells or peripheral human neutrophils. In vivo experiments employed a mouse-model of pneumococcal pneumonia to assess vaccine protection, based on clinical parameters, bacterial clearance from the lungs, bacteremia, local and systemic cellular immune-responses to SP3 challenge, pulmonary function tests, and pulmonary endothelium barrier integrity. Results: The vaccine candidate showed a robust protective effect in mice challenged with SP3 35 days following vaccination, but waning effect with no significant protection after 116 days, indicating a potential failure to convey long-term protection. Conclusions: These data show at once the promise of this approach of using semisynthetic oligosaccharides in vaccines, and support the need to expand the efforts of inducing long-lasting immunity through optimized vaccine-design.

Einleitung: Streptococcus pneumoniae-Infektionen stellen weltweit eine wichtige Ursache für Morbidität und Mortalität bei Kindern und älteren Erwachsenen dar. Obgleich Impfungen für viele der häufigsten Serotypen von S. pneumoniae existieren, verhindert eine beschränkte Verfügbarkeit der Impfstoffe in Entwicklungsländern die flächendeckende Immunisierung dieser Bevölkerungen. Gleichzeitig wird in den USA und Europa eine Verschiebung der beobachteten Serotyp-Prävalenzen bei zunehmender Antibiotika-Resistenz zu einer ernsten Herausforderung. Eine effektive und ökonomisch effiziente Lösung dieser Probleme stellt die Methode des rationalen Entwurfs synthetischer Polysaccharide-Impfungen dar. Vorläufige Daten konnten zeigen, dass ein semisynthetischer Oligosaccharid -Konjugatimpfstoff für *S. pneumoniae* Serotyp 3 (SP3), hergestellt mittels automatisierter Glykansynthese, die durch die Arbeitsgruppe von Prof. Dr. Seeberger (Max Planck Institute für Kolloid- und Grenzflächenforschung, MPIKG) entwickelt wurde, eine serologische Immunantwort in Mäusen erzeugen kann. In dem vorliegenden Projekt sollte nun die Fähigkeit des semisynthetischen SP3 Impfstoffs Protektive Immunität in einem Mausmodell zu induzieren. Methoden: In dieser präklinischen Studie wurden in-vitro - und in-vivo-Experimente durchgeführt, die nach den WHO-Leitlinien für die Auswertung der Effektivität und Sicherheit neuer Impfstoffe gestaltet wurden. In den *in-vitro*-Experimenten wurden ,Opsonophagocytosis Assays' (OPA) eingesetzt, welche Opsonophagozytose vermittelt durch spezifische Antikörper messen. Zu diesem Zweck wurden entweder ausdifferenzierte HL-60 Zellen, oder primäre menschliche Neutrophile Granulozyten verwendet. Die in-vivo-Experimente setzten ein Mausmodell der Pneumokokken-Pneumonie ein, um den Impfschutz gegen SP3-Infektion zu messen. Dazu wurden Daten zu klinischen Parametern, der Bakterienlast in Lunge und Blut, sowie zur Immunantwort erhoben. Ergebnisse: Der SP3-Impfstoff zeigte einen robusten Schutz in Mäusen, bei denen eine experimentelle Pneumonie mit SP3 35 Tage nach Impfung durchgeführt wurde, nicht jedoch in Mäusen, die 116 Tage nach Impfung infiziert wurden. Der Impfschutz war somit nicht langlebig. Schlussfolgerung: Die Studie zeigt, dass semisynthetische Konjugatimpfstoffe protektive Immunität induzieren können, sie zeigt aber auch auf die Notwendigkeit weiterer Studien zur Erforschung der Langzeit-Immunität mit diesen neuartigen Impfstoffen auf.

# **II. Introduction**

#### II. A. Epidemiology and the Implications for Public Health

#### II. A. i. Pneumococcal Infections Globally

*S. pneumoniae* is a gram-positive, alpha-hemolytic bacterium that transiently colonizes the nasopharynx. Children, and especially infants make up the primary carrier population, of which between 30-96% have shown to be affected. The adult population shows decidedly lower carrier rates ranging between 3 and 9  $\%^{1-6}$ . *S. pneumoniae* usually exists in a diplococcal form and is characterized by its large polysaccharide-rich capsule. Based on serum reactivity to capsule components, some 90 serotypes of *S. pneumoniae* have been identified to date, of which approximately 13 have been implicated in roughly 70% of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) cases<sup>2</sup>. The prevalence of the 21 most common serotypes in IPD is summarized in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Global prevalence of the most 21 common serotypes of S pneumoniae in children under the age of 5. Error bars indicate 95% confidence interval for each serotype. Line indicates cumulative proportion of IPD caused by the serotypes. Figure taken from Johnson, et al.,  $2010^2$ .

Diseases caused by *S. pneumoniae* include infections of the ears (otitis), nose and throat, meningitis, and most notably pneumonia <sup>3,4</sup>. These diseases are leading causes of morbidity and mortality world-wide. Pneumonia is a leading cause of death in children under the age of 5 <sup>5,6</sup>, accounting for approximately 15% of global deaths in this age-group<sup>7,8</sup>. *S. pneumoniae* remains the most significant cause of community acquired pneumonia (CAP), killing over 500,000 children in this age-group each year<sup>9,10</sup>. Pneumococcal pneumonia in the elderly and immune-compromised represent secondary, yet still highly significant sources of disease burden and death<sup>11-12</sup>. Indeed, *S. pneumoniae* is a leading cause of death in this population<sup>13</sup>.

#### II. A. ii. Disease Burden in Low-Income Countries

As with most infectious diseases, pneumococcal infections take their greatest toll in areas of the world with low income and resources<sup>14</sup>, particularly in Africa and Asia, where between 48% and 88% of IPD cases are accounted for by serotypes included in currently available vaccines. Cases in this region account for 95% of global pneumococcal disease, amounting annually to 10 million cases and over 600,000 deaths of children under the age of five<sup>3,6,12,15,2</sup>. This disproportionate geographic distribution in pneumococcal disease prevalence reflects limited access to health-care and related resources in those regions<sup>16</sup>. Inadequate access to antibiotic treatments for acute infection and insufficient vaccine coverage constitute the two major obstacles to stemming the tide of illnesses caused by this pathogen<sup>8</sup>. Indeed, while rates of IPD in the United States plummeted, and remained relatively low with the advent of the first pneumococcal vaccines<sup>17,15</sup> (Figure 2), the associated disease burden in developing countries remains high, and is caused by serotypes included in current vaccines<sup>15,18,2,19</sup> (Figure 3), a clear indication of poor vaccine coverage in these populations.



Figure 2. Mortality caused by serotypes of S. pneumoniae covered by licensed pneumococcal conjugate vaccines (PCVs). The graph shows absolute mortality attributable to IPD in children under the age of 5 by geographical region. The different bars indicate absolute number of deaths caused by serotypes covered by each of the respective pneumococcal vaccines. Figure taken from Johnson, et al., 2010<sup>2</sup>.



Figure 3. geographical distribution of deaths attributable to pneumococcal disease in children under the age of 5 (based on data obtained from the WHO: 'Programme for Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals', 2008<sup>9</sup>)

#### II. A. iii. Disease Burden in Europe and the United States

Higher income countries face different problems related to IPD. Increasing bacterial resistance to both first- and second- line antibiotics<sup>15,20,21</sup> and shifts in seroprevalence away

from types covered by currently available vaccines<sup>22,19</sup> (Figure 4) are increasing concerns both in the United States and Europe.

Management of pneumococcal disease is costly. The financial costs have been calculated to reach over 3.5 billion USD in the US and some 5 billion Euros in Europe annually. Thousands of hospital-days and physician working-hours are committed to this task each year<sup>13,23,24</sup>.



Figure 1. Penicillin resistance in Streptococcus pneumoniae, United States, 1979–2004

#### II. B. Vaccination as an approach to pneumococcal disease-control and prevention.

Several vaccines for *S. pneumoniae* have been developed to date (Table 1). The first widely implemented vaccine against *S. pneumoniae* was the 23-valent polysaccharide vaccine (PSV) Pneomovax23® (Merck<sup>TM</sup>). For reasons discussed in the next section, PSVs confer limited immunity to young children. The introduction of the polysaccharide conjugate vaccine (PCV), Prevnar7® for *S. pneumoniae* in 2000 can be regarded as a breakthrough, since it reduced the incidence of pneumococcal disease in the United States in children under the age of five from 80 cases in 100,000 to less than 1 case in 100,000 within 7 years of its implementation<sup>15</sup> (Figure 5).

<sup>1979–1994:</sup> CDC Sentinel Surveillance System 1995–2004: CDC Active Bacterial Core Surveillance (ABCs) System, Emerging Infections Program<sup>28</sup>

*Figure 4. Frequency of Penicillin resistance in S. pneumoniae isolates in the United States until the introduction of PCV7 (Prevnar7®) Figure taken from Pilishvili, et al., 2012*<sup>15</sup>.

Trade Name	Manufacturer	PSV/PCV	Year Licensed	Serotypes incl.
Pneumovax23®	Merck <sup>TM</sup>	PSV23	1983	1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 8,
				9N, 9V, 10A, 11A, 12F,
				14, 15B, 17F, 18C, 19A,
				19F, 20, 22F, 23F, 33F
Prevnar7®	Pfizer <sup>TM</sup>	PCV7	2000	4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F,
				23F
Prevnar9®	Pfizer <sup>TM</sup>	PCV9	Unlicensed	4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F,
				23F, 1, 5
Prevnar10®	Pfizer <sup>TM</sup>	PCV10	Unlicensed	4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F,
				23F, 1, 5,7
Prevnar13®	Pfizer <sup>TM</sup>	PCV13	2010	4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F,
				23F 1, 3, 5, 6A, 7F and
				19A

Table 1.<sup>15</sup>



Figure 5. Incidence of IPD caused by S. pneumoniae PCV7-serotypes in children under the age of 5 before and after the release of the vaccine in 2001. (Figure modified from VPD Surveillance Manual, 5th Edition, 2012. Pneumococcal Disease: Chapter 11-13)<sup>15</sup>.

Based on this evidence, it can be asserted that vaccination is a safe and efficient measure to reduce the problem of pneumoccal disease in populations where it is readily accessible. Development of cost-effective methods for vaccine production would greatly improve vaccine coverage in low-income countries and allow for a quicker adaptation of vaccine serotypes in response to changes in serotype distribution<sup>25,26</sup>. As such, developing new strategies for more efficient, defined and cost-effective vaccine production has been a priority of several organizations, including the WHO and UNICEF, which jointly put forth the Global Action Plan for Pneumonia and Diarrhea (GAPPD). This initiative sets specific goals for the eradication of IPD in children by 2025<sup>4</sup>.

## II. B. i. Current vaccines and mechanisms of inducing immunity to S. pneumoniae.

A critical feature of acquired immunity against *S. pneumoniae*, and many other capsulated bacterial pathogens, is the production of specific antibodies to capsular polysaccharides (CPS) found in the bacterial cell wall<sup>27</sup> (Figures 6 & 7). Humoral immunity in general is an extremely potent defense mechanism against extracellular bacterial pathogens. Pathogen-specific antibodies offer protection by opsonizing bacteria and thus enhancing phagocytic clearance. In addition, antibodies promote complement-dependent killing of pathogens<sup>28,29,30</sup>. Protection afforded by pneumococcal vaccines is based on their ability to elicit humoral immunity to capsular antigens, thereby promoting opsono-phagocytosis and complementary killing of invading pneumococci<sup>31,32</sup>. Each of the licensed vaccines contains native capsular polysaccharides are administered as a suspension without modification<sup>32</sup>; whereas in PCVs, CPS are chemically bound, or conjugated, to a carrier protein<sup>31</sup>.



Figure 6. Author's rendering of S. pneumoniae showing the diplococcal morphology and dense capsule. Based on electron-micrographs depicted in Rockefeller. $edu^{33}$ .



Figure 7. Author's rendering (modified from Stephens et. al, 2007) of the bacterial cell-wall cross section. The capsular polysaccharide contains the antigenic sequences that determine the serogroup<sup>34</sup>.

Polysaccharides on their own elicit an immune response that is largely T-Helper-cell independent<sup>27</sup> and fail to induce long-lived B cell memory<sup>35</sup>. Multiple B-cell receptors bind to the epitopes within a polysaccharide (glycotopes) and are subsequently cross-linked, resulting in a cascade reaction that eventually leads to antibody production and B-Cell differentiation into short-lived plasma-cells<sup>27,36</sup>. This mechanism is not supported in children younger than 18-24 months, probably because they have not yet undergone the B-Cell maturation necessary to convey immunity to carbohydrates<sup>37,38</sup>. Consequently, polysaccharide vaccines such as PSV23 are ineffective in this very vulnerable age-group. The immune systems in small children can, however, form immunological memory via mechanisms belonging to the

thymus-dependent pathway, for which peptides are required in the activation process. In this case, antigen presenting cells, such as dendritic cells and B-cells present peptide antigens on MHC-II molecules to CD4<sup>+</sup> T-helper cells, which in turn stimulate B-cell activation, proliferation, antibody class-switching and recombination (CSR) and the generation of B-cell memory<sup>36,39,40</sup>(Figure 8). PCVs take advantage of this mechanism by coupling CPS to carrier-proteins, which provide peptide antigens to stimulate sufficient T-cell help to trigger the germinal center reaction resulting in B cell memory. Notably, most conjugate vaccines use the well-characterized detoxified diphtheria toxin derivative CRM-197 as a carrier protein, thereby mobilizing CRM-197-specific T-helper cells into the CPS-specific humoral immune response<sup>41,39,42</sup>. MHC II appears to play a critical role in this process of carrier-protein facilitated B-Cell activation<sup>43,44,45</sup>, probably by direct MHC II Binding of carrier proteins and subsequent presentation to B-cell and release of IL 2&4<sup>45</sup>. PCVs allow for safe and successful vaccination of infants and children under the age of two<sup>31</sup>.

T-helper cell-independent response as seen with PSV:







Figure 8. Two pathways in the response to PSV (a) and PCV (b): Author's rendering (modified from Avci et al, 2011) of **a** T-Helper cell-independent response antibody production to PSV and **b** T-Helper cell-dependent response and antibody production to PCV<sup>44-46,47</sup>.

## II. B. ii. Challenges in Vaccine Production

#### Implications for global accessibility and coverage.

The production of CPS for both of these vaccines and, indeed for all vaccines utilizing CPS as antigen, is very resource intensive and often hampered by technical difficulties in providing stable and pure antigens<sup>48</sup>. The production process requires large-scale cultivation of the specific bacterial strains, and subsequent isolation of the desired CPS<sup>49,50</sup>. There are many technical and logistical challenges in this process. To name only a few of the problems encountered in CPS production by fermentation and purification, cultivation of certain strains

is often difficult<sup>51,52</sup>; isolation and purification of CPS is invariably never completely effective, resulting in the inclusion of impurities, which may disrupt vaccine responses or cause side-effects<sup>51,53</sup>; and CPS may become unstable during this process<sup>54,55</sup>. Naturally, this process must also be tightly controlled and regulated at each step<sup>49,50</sup>. In sum, the production of natural CPS antigens incorporated into these vaccines represents one major hurdle to overcoming the prohibitively high costs of making such vaccines available globally.

#### II. B. iii. Rational Vaccine-Design

# Approaches for vaccine development and application in developing a novel vaccine for *S. pneumoniae* serotype 3.

One promising approach to reducing production costs lies in the rational design of carbohydrate antigens and their synthetic production. Such a method allows for consistent and reliable production of carbohydrate antigens that could be employed in vaccine production with a comparatively insignificant window of chance for the inclusion of impurities<sup>48</sup>. Furthermore, this process would eliminate the problem of instability in the antigens produced, and circumvent the need for such rigorous inspection and regulation in the production process described above<sup>48,56,57</sup>.

One significant challenge to this approach is identifying the carbohydrate sequences within the CPS that are sufficiently antigenic. Several methods have been developed to this end in the past few years, however, paving the way for advances in this field and expanding the currently available library on carbohydrate antigens<sup>48,57</sup>.

*S. pneumoniae* serotype-3 (SP3) represents a previously well-characterized and clinically relevant pathogen. SP3 is known to cause IPD in both children and adults<sup>58,59</sup>. Several studies have made progress in describing the makeup of the CPS as well as identifying viable glycan hapten-candidates for use in vaccines<sup>60</sup>. In addition, PCV13 is known to be only weakly protective against SP3, making the latter a problematic serotype with a high medical need for better vaccines<sup>61,62</sup>.

Recently developed glycan microarrays<sup>63</sup> were employed to identify glycotopes in the CPS of SP3 that could potentially provide protective immunity against SP3. Using this method, Prof. Peter H. Seeberger's group (MPIKG) generated a catalog of synthetic glycans fixed to a solid

surface, known as a microarray chip and then exposed to commercially available, wellcharacterized monoclonal antibodies known to opsonize SP3 bacteria. Following rinsing steps, secondary antibodies coupled to fluorophores were then applied to mark the fixed antibodies. Quantification of fluorescence on the glycan microarray allows for the identification of oligosaccharides (i.e. glycotopes) that best bind the primary antibodies<sup>63</sup> and therefore represent promising candidates for utilization in vaccines. Using this method, Prof. Seeberger's group confirmed that SP3-specific antibodies bind both native SP3 CPS, as well as a newly synthesized tetrasaccharide-sequence with high affinity. The synthetic tetrasaccharide sequence was subsequently used as the SP3-glycotope in the synthetic PCV tested in this study<sup>64</sup>.

As discussed previously, conjugation to a carrier-protein is necessary for the elicitation of a thymus-dependent response in children under the age of 24 months.

CRM-197, an inactivated form of diphtheria toxin<sup>65,66</sup> and the carrier employed in PCV13, was selected as carrier protein in this vaccine as one that is well-characterized and licensed for this purpose<sup>67</sup>. A coupling process using a linking compound was undertaken to conjugate the hapten to its carrier protein. This linker and the bonds involved can also play a role in immunogenicity<sup>48</sup>, which is why this constituent of the vaccine must be carefully selected so as not to negatively affect vaccine-response. Successful conjugation was verified by mass-spectroscopy, which showed that, on average, 6 to 7 of tetrasaccharide haptens were conjugate to each CRM-197 molecule employed for this purpose<sup>68</sup>. This newly generated conjugate vaccine is referred to as 'SP3-Tetrasaccharide' from hereon.

## II. B. iv. Innate Immunity and Vaccines

# The role of the innate immune system in the conference of an adaptive response to threats, and the implications for vaccination.

A necessary step in eliciting immune memory conferred by T- and B-cells involves antigen presentation by antigen-presenting-cells (APC) such as B-Cells, dendritic cells and macrophages<sup>36,69,70</sup>. PCVs on their own have a very limited capacity for evoking activation of antigen presenting cells. However, appropriate activation signals are required for the maturation of antigen presenting cells and the expression co-stimulatory molecules as well as

efficient processing and presentation of antigen. Thus, PCV application alone leads only to poor presentation of the antigens to immune cells and the resulting adaptive immune responses are limited<sup>36,70,71</sup>. The potential for eliciting immune-memory and a secondary immune-response is therefore reduced as well. The process of antigen presentation and sufficient activation takes place at the interface of the innate and adaptive immune-systems<sup>72,70,73</sup>. The innate response to a potential threat, or an inflammatory stimulus such as an adjuvant, is prerequisite for the initiation of a sustained adaptive immune-response<sup>72,70,73</sup>.

To facilitate this interface-reaction, vaccines must be supplemented with a component that adequately alerts the innate immune system to a potential threat<sup>36,71</sup>. Such supplementary substances are termed 'adjuvants.' There are many such substances in use today; an aluminum-containing solution (Alum) such as Alyhdrogel® (InvivoGen<sup>TM</sup>) employed in this study, is one of the oldest and most widely used adjuvants, which has a consistent track-record of being effective and very safe <sup>74–76</sup>. For the purposes of this study, Complete-Freund's-Adjuvant (CFA), an oil emulsion containing heat-inactivated Mycobacterium bovis components<sup>77</sup> was also employed. This latter adjuvant, while highly-effective at producing local-reactions and conferring immune-memory, is not approved for use in humans as it has shown to produce severe local and systemic side-effects<sup>78</sup>. The mechanisms by which each of these adjuvants elicits local-responses and subsequent activation of the adaptive immune-system are, as yet, not fully understood. Some evidence suggests that aluminum directly activates macrophages and dendritic cells, which subsequently go on to present antigens within secondary lymph organs<sup>74–76</sup>. CFA appears to elicit a similar reaction<sup>78</sup>, but tends to generally induce immune-memory more effectively than aluminum-containing agents<sup>79,71</sup>.

#### II. B. v. Preliminary Results from Studies in Mice.

# Mice treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide and CFA or Alum showed a significant immune response as determined by glycan microarray.

Small-scale, preliminary experiments were conducted by our collaborators at MPIKG to establish whether the SP3-Tetrasaccharide combined with either the Alum-adjuvant or CFA would elicit an effective humoral immune response in mice. Groups of 6 mice were immunized either with PBS, SP3-Tetrasaccharide, SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum or SP3-

Tetrasaccharide + CFA, followed by boosting at 14 and 28 days. Serum was then analyzed using glycan microarrays in a fashion similar to the one described above. Results from this analysis showed that mice from the SP3-Tetrasaccharide, SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum or SP3-Tetrasaccharide + CFA-groups produced immunoglobulin G (IgG) specific to both the SP3-Tetrasaccharide antigen, as well as to the native SP3-CPS, demonstrating that the vaccine could induce an immune response. A comparison of the results from these groups also showed that vaccines supplemented with either Alum or CFA elicited higher IgG titers compared to SP3-Tetrasaccharide alone. It was also shown that a significantly greater response was elicited when CFA was employed as an adjuvant when compared to Alum. These findings are also reflected in the literature wherein more robust responses to CFA were observed when compared directly with Alum<sup>80</sup>. Those findings confirmed robust immune-responsiveness to SP3-Tetrasaccharide when combined with an adjuvant.

#### II. B. vi. WHO Guidelines for Vaccine Development

#### II. B. vi. 1. Overview

While these studies provided evidence for the immunogenic nature of SP3-Tetrasaccharide antigen, proof of functional protection in an animal model must be provided before clinical trials in humans can be conducted. The WHO has established guidelines for non-clinical evaluation of vaccines, which are intended to standardize the establishment of risk-benefit analysis<sup>50,81,82</sup>. These guidelines encompass parameters for toxicity assessment, immunogenicity and protective effects of the vaccine in an animal model to assess for the benefits of treatment and its relative safety before proceeding with human trials<sup>50,81</sup>.

Toxicity studies monitor both clinical data that may reflect illness in animals (appearance, behavior and body-weight), hematologic and serologic examinations (complete blood count, electrolytes, enzyme studies and electrolytes) and pathology-studies (complete necropsy, examination of immune-organs including the spleen, lymph nodes, bone-marrow—and pivotal organs—brain, kidney and liver)<sup>82,81</sup>.

Establishing effectivity involves both *in-vivo* and *in-vitro/ex vivo* studies. *In-vitro/ex vivo* studies encompass measures of antibody-titers, mean antibody concentration, seroconversion rates and antibody functionality. The latter is the capacity of specific antibodies to promote

opsono-phagocytosis and killing of the target pathogen in a standardized *in-vitro* assay<sup>82</sup>. *In-vivo* studies combine both the toxicity studies described above as well as parameters adhering to established animal-models of pneumococcal disease, in the form of a challenge-experiment in which vaccinated animals are subjected to inoculation with the respective pathogen<sup>81,83,84</sup>.

#### II. B. vi. 2. Application to the Current Study

#### Applying a mouse-model of pneumococcal pneumonia to the current study

A mouse model of pneumococcal pneumonia has been established in the working-group of Prof. Witzenrath Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Department of Infectious Diseases and Pulmonary Medicine<sup>81,83,84,85,86</sup>. This model encompasses direct monitoring of infected- mice and controls at 12 h intervals for clinical signs of morbidity (appearance of the fur and skin, lacrimation, behavior indicating stress etc.), bodyweight and temperature. Later, sacrificed animals are dissected and intubated for gathering spirometric data; BAL-Fluid and blood samples are collected for conduction FACS-studies and lung-permeability assessment; and lung tissue is obtained for histological examination.

In this study we tested the protective effects of a novel, semi-synthetic PCV against SP3 using the *in-vitro/ex vivo* and *in-vivo* methods described above. We were able to show that SP3-Tetrasaccharide induces protective humoral immunity as confirmed by positive OPA-titers in immunized mice 5 weeks after immunization, but not after 16 weeks. The protective nature of the vaccine in the short-term, but not in the long-term groups was indicated by: the absence of clinical signs and symptoms of infection, maintenance of body–weight and temperature, pulmonary bacterial load and bacteremia, and pulmonary endothelial permeability. Cell counts of bronchio-alveolar-lavage fluid (BALF) showed increased Neutrophil recruitment to lungs in non-vaccinated mice, supporting the conjecture of a specific immune response in vaccinated animals. Cell counts performed in whole-blood showed lower leukocyte counts in non-vaccinated groups than in vaccinated animals and uninfected controls. In sum, we were able to demonstrate proof of concept for a novel, semi-synthetic PCV vaccine against SP3.

# **III. Materials and Methods**

#### III. A. In vitro / ex vivo-Studies

#### III. A. i. Materials

#### III. A. i. 1. Bacteria

Highly encapsulated, alpha hemolytic serotype-3 *S. pneumonia* (PN36, NCTC7978, kindly provided by Prof. S. Hammerschmidt, Universität Greifswald, Germany), was employed in both OPA's and *in-vivo* experiments.

The preparation of bacteria for killing assays and challenge experiments was performed according to protocols previously established in our working group.

Bacterial stocks used in OPA's were established by cultivating bacteria from single colonies overnight in a medium of Todd-Hewitt broth supplemented with a 0.5% yeast extract to an optical density (OD) of 0.3-0.4 at a wavelength of 600 nm. This OD corresponds to a mid-logarithmic growth-phase for this strain.

The bacterial suspension was then diluted to obtain a concentration of  $\sim 10^6$  CFU/mL and combined with glycerol to make a 15%-glycerol/suspension solution. This combination was frozen and stored at -80°C in 0.5 mL aliquots.

Bacteria-viability was verified by plating 50  $\mu$ L (~5 x 10<sup>4</sup> CFU) of frozen aliquot taken at random, and diluted 1:1, 1:10 and 1:100 serially on Columbia Agar. The plates were incubated for 10 hours at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere, and the colonies counted manually.

#### III. A. i. 2. HL-60 Cells

Human, myeloproliferative leukemia HL-60 cells were implemented in the OPA's. Cryostocks of HL-60 cells were kindly provided by the working group of PD Dr. Andreas Nitsche at the Robert Koch Institute in Berlin, Germany.

To establish the growth pattern and optimal induction-conditions for these cells, multiple expansions were performed. We tracked both the viable cell density using 4% trypan blue exclusion, and the degree of differentiation using a combination of Giemsa-Pappenheim staining to resolve morphological features at pre-established time-points during the growth- and differentiation process.

In addition, nitro blue tetrazolium staining for superoxide anions, and therefore the presence of granules was used to identify more accurately mature granulocytic cells.

#### **Expansion of HL-60 Stocks**

A cryostock of 1 x  $10^{6}$  HL-60 cells was diluted to 1:20 in a solution of RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% L-glutamine and 1% penicillin-streptomycin. Cells were expanded to a concentration of  $\leq 1$  x 106 cells/mL in the upright position at 37°C and 5% CO<sup>2</sup> atmosphere. Cell-viability was verified using 0.4% trypan blue exclusion. The growth medium was changed every 24h by centrifuging the culture at room-temperature at 160 x g for 10 minutes, and decanting supernatant from the pellet. Following expansion, cells were cultured with a starting concentration of 2 x  $10^{5}$  cells/mL of the same medium, supplemented with 10% FBS instead of 20%. These growth cultures were incubated at 37°C and 5% atmosphere to a concentration of  $\leq 5.7$  x  $10^{6}$ cells/mL in the upright position. The medium was changed as described above every 48-72 hours. Counts of viable cells were performed at regular intervals using trypan blue, and showed logarithmic growth over time (Figure 9).



*Figure 9. Average growth-rate of viable HL-60 cells over time started with an inoculation of 100,000 Cells/mL in a 200 mL solution. Shown are the average cell counts of 6 expansions.* 

#### **HL-60 Cell Differentiation**

The procedure for the differentiation of HL-60 cells to pseudogranulocytes was also modified from that described by Romero Steiner *et. al.*, 2007. We assumed that the concentration of DMF used to stimulate HL-60 would at once affect the morphology as well as the viability of the cells. The latter

characteristic we attribute to the toxic nature of this compound and the fact that terminal differentiation of myeloid cells generally involves a proliferative block<sup>87,88</sup>. To determine the optimal condition for inducing granulocytic differentiation with preservation of cellular viability, we therefore conducted differentiation of HL-60 cells in 3 different environments i.e. with different concentrations of DMF: to a standard medium 200 mL of RPMI 1640 supplemented with 20% FBS and 1% L-glutamine was added the required volume of DMF to produce either a 100 mM, 75 mM or 50 mM solution of this compound. (The protocol described by Romero-Steiner et. al. calls for a concentration of 100 mM DMF.)

Cells from the previous step were then added to this medium at a concentration of 2 x  $10^5$  cells/mL and incubated for 7 days at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere in the slanted position. The medium was not changed during this time. After 7 days, trypan blue exclusion was used to control for the number of viable cells. Giemsa staining combined with nitroblue tetrazolium for testing the presence of superoxide anions was used to verify differentiation to pseudogranulocytes. Absolute cell counts vs. non-viable cell counts were charted over time (Figure 10) to assess the optimal differentiation time for each of these conditions.



Figure 10. Relative growth ('X mM DMF) and mortality ('X mM DMF—Tri-X incl) of HL-60 cells in varied solutions of DMF inoculated with a starting concentration of 200,000 cells/mL. Cell mortality was quantified using a sample of cells from each time-point stained with Tri-X pan solution counted in a Neubauer cell-chamber. Cells showing inclusion of Tri-X pan were deemed unviable. All conditions showed an initial rise in viable cell concentration, with subsequent decline in viable cell concentration with a concomitant rise in cells showing Tripan Blue inclusion.

For each of these time-points, samples were plated and prepared using Giemsa-stain and nitroblue tetrazolium to establish the relative differentiation of cells in each of these respective conditions. (Micrographs of representative samples of cells from each set of conditions are shown in Figures 11-13). In order to select the optimal conditions for performing OPAs we compared samples from conditions with the optimal cell viability i.e. lowest cell-mortality, and highest degree of cell differentiation. The latter characteristic was determined by cell-morphology and superoxide anion content of granules. We assumed that an optimal culture would contain the least number of dead cells, which would presumably interfere with granulocyte-SP3 contact and thereby opsonization, and the greatest number of cells with the highest degree of differentiation.

A

В





С





Figure 11 A-F showing author's micrographs of HL-60 cells prepared by the author with Giemsa stain and nitroblue tetrazolium in a native, unstimulated state (A), and in a 100 mM solution of DMF at 47(B), 72 (C), 91(D), 135(E) and 156(F) hours post-inoculation. Progressive differentiation can be observed from a morphology comparable to that of HL-60 cells in a native state, to one with increased segmentation of the nucleus and presence of granules containing superoxide anions.



Figure 12 A-F. Author's micrographs of HL-60 cells, prepared by the author, stimulated with a 75 mM solution of DMF at 47, 72, 91, 135, 156 and 180 hours post-inoculation, respectively. The micrographs show progressive stages of differentiation, with a similar progression to a pseudogranulocytic state, and an increase in nuclear segmentation and the development of granules over time. Notably, there is an increased clustering of viable cells toward the end of the differentiation period and markedly less cell fragments, when compared to the differentiation-cultures containing a 100mM DMF solution.







D

B

E



Figure 13 A-F. Author's micrographs of HL-60 cells, prepared by the author, stimulated with a 50 mM solution of DMF at 47, 72, 91, 135, 156 and 180 hours, respectively, post-inoculation. Progression to a pseudogranulocytic state where the characteristic, granulocytic appearance is also observed.

We concluded that cells differentiated in a 75 mM DMF Solution for 6 days showed, by comparison, the best ratio of differentiation to viability.

#### III. A. i. 3. Peripheral Human Neutrophils (PHN)

Peripheral human neutrophils (PHN) were extracted from human whole blood using combined Hisoplaque-1077 and -1119 gradients. Isolated neutrophils were substituted in the same quantity for the HL-60 cells in the OPA assays described above. To establish the gradient, 12 mL of Histoplaque-1077 solution was layered onto 12 mL of Histoplaque-1119 solution in a 50 mL centrifuge tube at room-temperature. 24 mL of whole blood, anticoagulated with 0.40 mL of a 250 mM EDTA solution, were then immediately layered onto this gradient and centrifuged at 700 x g for 30 minutes at 22°C with the brake off. The granulocyte layer was extracted and rinsed twice by suspension in PBS and centrifugation at 400 x g for 10 minutes. Following a third centrifugation, the cells were re-suspended with OPA-buffer and kept on ice until utilized in the OPA.

To verify the presence of granulocytes in the layer extracted, a sample was taken and was prepared with a Giemsa-Pappenheim stain to verify the cell-type, morphologically (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Author's micrographs, of Giemsa-Pappenheim stain of a representative sample, prepared by the author, of isolated PHN used in these experiments, with characteristic, multi-segmentation of the cell-nucleus.

#### III. A. i. 4. Serum

Serum used in OPAs stemmed from one of two groups: either from mice vaccinated in the experiments performed by Prof. Seeberger's group, or from mice vaccinated in our facilities. Mice from the former set of experiments had been vaccinated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide with a primary dose

of vaccine and either a Conjugate Freund's Adjuvant (CFA) or Aluminum Hydroxide adjuvant (Alum). Both groups received one boosting 28 days thereafter. Serum was extracted before vaccination, at 1, 2 and 4 weeks following primary vaccination, and at 1 and 2 weeks following boosting. Pooled serum samples from each of these conditions were then implemented in our OPAs.

A separate vaccination trial was carried out as above using 6 animals treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide + CFA. Serum from individual animals drawn at 2 and then at 3 weeks post-boosting was used in OPAs.

In vaccination experiments conducted in our facilities (see description of *in-vivo* studies below) animals were treated with a primary dose of SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum, and with vaccine-boostings at 14 and 28 days thereafter. Serum was extracted at day 35 (i.e. 7 days following the second boosting) for use in OPAs.

Serum from naïve animals was used as a negative control in these experiments. WHO-standardized, human serum from humans vaccinated with the 23-valent polysaccharide vaccine was implemented as a positive control.

#### III. A. i. 5. Complement Factor

Complement factors, isolated from naïve baby rabbits, provided by two different manufacturers, Cedarlane<sup>TM</sup> and Biozol<sup>TM</sup>, were compared for effectivity. OPAs showed that assays using Biozol<sup>TM</sup> produced significantly greater killing than those using complement obtained from Cedarlane<sup>TM</sup> (see Results section), and Biozol<sup>TM</sup> was therefore selected for use in comparative OPAs.

#### III. A. ii. Methods

#### III. A. ii. 1. Opsonophagocytosis Assay (OPA)

Differentiated cells obtained in the steps described above were harvested by centrifugation (160 x g for 10 minutes at room temperature). Trypan blue exclusion was used to first determine the viable cell count. The viable cell count was then used to calculate the volume of growth culture needed for the previous step. In order to obtain an effector-to-target cell ratio of 400:1, a volume of differentiated HL-60 cells or PHN was removed to provide  $4 \times 10^5$  viable cells per well, multiplied by the number of wells used in the experimental conditions. On the day of the assay, the differentiated cells were centrifuged at 160 x g for 10 minutes at room temperature, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet then re-suspended in 15 mL of Hank's buffer without Ca<sup>++</sup> or Mg<sup>++</sup> (OPA-buffer). The suspension was then centrifuged a second time as above, and then re-suspended in the volume of the

same required for that specific assay. This suspension was kept in an ice-bath until it was implemented.

For the assay itself, 5  $\mu$ L aliquots of serum from each condition (run in duplicate for each assay) were added to the first well of each row of a 96-well, round-bottom micro titer plate. 15  $\mu$ L of OPA-buffer were then added to each of these wells, and 10 µL of OPA-buffer to all of the subsequent wells in that row. The serum was then serially diluted using a multi-channel pipette for a titer range of 1:32 to 1:4096. 10uL of OPA-buffer were then added to each row to bring the total volume of each condition to 90  $\mu$ L. 20  $\mu$ L of bacterial suspension (PN36, taken directly from thawed cryostocks prepared as described in the section above) were then added to each well. Control conditions, also run in duplicate, were set up as follows: 20 µL of PN36 + 70 µL of OPA-buffer, 20 µL of PN36 + 10 µL of complement + 60 µL of OPA-buffer, 20 µL of PN36 + 40 µL of differentiated HI-60 cells + 30 µL of OPA-buffer, and 20 µL of PN36 + 10 µL of complement + 5 µL of WHO serum + 55 µL of OPAbuffer. The micro titer plate was then incubated for 15 minutes at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. Phagocytosis was then initiated by adding 10 µL of complement suspension (Biozol<sup>TM</sup>) to each well, followed immediately by 40 µL of differentiated HL-60 cells or PHN. The plate was then incubated for 45 minutes at 37° in a horizontal shaker operating at 220 rpm. The plate was then removed and kept on ice for the remainder of the protocol to halt the phagocytosis process. 5  $\mu$ L of suspension from each condition was then plated onto 5% sheep blood agar plates and incubated for 10-12 hours at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. The plates were then removed and the CFU's counted manually.

#### III. B. In-Vivo Studies

#### III. B. i. Materials

#### III. B. i. 1. Animals/Housing

All protocols involving animals were first approved by the University's board for the care and use of animals in research, as well as the local authorities (Landesamt für Gesundheit und Soziales Berlin, approval ID: A 305/12). Animals were housed and handled adherent to regulations on animals used for scientific purposes set forth by the European Commission for Environment and the Society for Laboratory Animal Science Association (FELASA). Housing for all mice used was kept pathogen-free.

#### III. B. i. 2. Bacteria

Bacteria for challenge-experiments were taken from frozen stocks and plated on Columbia Agar containing 5% sheep blood by volume and incubated at 37°C and 5%  $CO_2$  atmosphere for 9 hours. Single colonies were used to inoculate a medium of Todd Hewitt Broth supplemented with 0.5% yeast extract (growth medium). Bacteria were then cultured at 37°C and 5%  $CO_2$  atmosphere to an optical density of 0.3 – 0.4 at a wavelength of 600 nm, which corresponds to mid-logarithmic growth-phase. The suspension was then centrifuged and re-suspended with sterile, Phosphate-buffered Saline (PBS) to the appropriate concentration for direct implementation in infection (see below).

#### III. B. i. 3. Serum

Serum was obtained from mice in a pre-vaccinated state, and at 2 and 4 weeks following primary vaccination. Blood was drawn either from the tail- or facial-vein and centrifuged at 5000 x g for 10 minutes at room-temperature to separate serum from the cellular phase.

#### III. B. ii. Methods

#### III. B. ii. 1. Pneumococcal Challenge

8 week-old, Female C57BL/6N mice (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany) were injected subcutaneously with a 1:1 (v/v) suspension of SP3-Tetrasaccharide and Alum (Alhydrogel, Brenntag, Mühlheim, Germany) or CFA (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim am Albuch, Germany). This combination corresponds to a 100  $\mu$ L solution containing 5  $\mu$ g of conjugate. As controls, mice were injected with 100  $\mu$ L of sterile PBS, or with a suspension containing SP3-Tetrasaccharide without an adjuvant.

*S. pneumoniae* challenge was performed using transnasal inoculation with bacteria at 35 days for short-term studies, or at 116 days for long-term studies. For this purpose, mice were anaesthetized by intraperitoneal (i.p.) administration of 80 mg/kg of Ketamine (Ketavet®, Pfizer, Berlin, Germany) and 25 mg/kg of xylazine (Rompun®, Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany). A 20  $\mu$ L PBS/bacterial suspension containing 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> CFU, or 20uL PBS solution was administered to the anaesthetized mice. Mice were monitored at 12-hour intervals for signs of illness and distress, which was qualified according to behavior (activity, grooming and respirations), appearance, body weight and rectal temperature (BAT-12 Microprobe Thermometer, Physitemp Instruments, Clifton, NJ).

48 hours following pneumococcal challenge, mice were deeply anaesthetized with a combination of ketamine (160 mg/kg body weight (BW)) and xylazine (75 mg/kg BW), and subsequently prepared for tracheotomization and ventilation. This procedure was carried out by Dr. med. vet. Katrin Reppe

(Witzenrath laboratory). Mice were then heparinized and exsanguinated via the *Vena Cava Caudalis*. The lungs were then perfused by way of the pulmonary artery using sterile PBS. Broncheoalveolar lavage (BAL) was conducted in two steps with an administration of 800  $\mu$ L of PBS plus protease inhibitors each (Roche<sup>TM</sup>, Mannheim, Germany). Both lungs and the spleen were then subsequently removed for microbiological and histological examination.

Bacterial burden in BAL-fluid (BALF), lung-tissue and whole blood was measured. Lung-tissue was passed through a cell-strainer (100  $\mu$ m, BD Bioscience), and the homogenate diluted serially and plated on Columbia agar with 5 % sheep blood and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> overnight. BALF and whole blood samples were similarly diluted and then plated for incubation. CFU's were then counted manually.

To measure blood-lung barrier permeability, albumin concentration in BALF supernatant and plasma were determined using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (Bethyl Laboratories Inc., Montgomery, AL, USA) as per manufacturer's instructions. Albumin BALF/plasma ratio was calculated as an indicator and quantifier of alveolar edema.

Total BALF leukocytes were quantified by use of a Neubauer<sup>™</sup> hemocytometer, and differentiated by FACS analysis (FACS Calibur; BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) using forward vs. side scatter characteristics and staining with CD45 PerCP (clone 30-F11) GR-1 PE (clone RB6-8C5, all from BD Bioscience<sup>™</sup>, Heidelberg, Germany) and F4-80 APC (Invitrogen<sup>™</sup> by Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA).

## **IV. Results**

# IV. Pooled reference serum from immunized humans potently opsonizes and facilitates killing of SP3 bacteria by HL-60 derived pseudogranulocytes or peripheral human neutrophils and complement.

Host-defense against *S. pneumoniae* is contingent upon effector cells' ability to phagocytize bacteria<sup>29,30,89</sup>. Phagocytosis of *S. pneumonia*, like most capsulated bacteria, is greatly enhanced by opsonization via specific antibodies, in particular  $IgG^{28,90}$ . Enzyme-Linked Immunoabsorbant Assay (ELISA) is used to quantify the absolute serum-concentration of specific  $IgG^{91,82}$ , and opsonophagocytosis assays (OPA) indirectly measures the presence and functionality of opsonizing and complement activating antibodies by measuring the ability of effector cells to clear bacteria in vitro<sup>92</sup>.

# In-vitro assessment of immune response: quantitative Enzyme-Linked Immunoabsorbant Assay (ELISA) and opsonophagocytosis assays (OPA).

#### IV. A. i. ELISA for verification of IgG concentration.

In-vitro experiments include the use of quantitative ELISA and OPA to establish specific serum IgG concentrations and the functionality of those immunoglobulins, respectively<sup>82</sup>. Similar to the glycan microarray studies described above, ELISA involves the immobilization of antigens—in this case the native SP3-CPS—in a solid matrix and application of serum from immunized mice. Secondary antibodies conjugated to substances that can be stimulated to produce chromographic reaction are subsequently applied. Quantification of this reaction verifies IgG concentrations<sup>91,93</sup>.

# IV. A. ii. OPAs as a tool for functional assessment of immunogenicity in response to vaccination.

OPAs combine immune serum (or non-immune serum as control) with complement (usually baby rabbit complement) with effector cells and a pre-determined number of bacteria. The finished product of an OPA is plated on sheep's agar. The functionality of the sera used for each condition is indicated by the degree of killing of bacteria. This procedure was first described and standardized by Romero-Steiner *et. al* in 1997 and has been adopted by the WHO in its guidelines for the evaluation of novel vaccines<sup>82</sup>.



Figure 15. Author's rendering—using original artwork—of the process of opsonization of S. pneumoniae showing binding of specific IgG to pneumococci and subsequent phagocytosis with the help of complement.

A key component of OPAs is the effector cells: phagocytosis of *S. pneumoniae in-vivo* is executed largely by neutrophilic granulocytes<sup>94–96</sup>. The isolation of primary peripheral granulocytes represents a source of potential variability. The strategy employed to circumvent this problem has been to utilize differentiated, human myeloprolific HL-60 cells<sup>92,97,98</sup>. These cells were isolated from a patient in the late 1950's with acute myeloproliphic leukemia and have been utilized for a wide range of uses since<sup>99</sup>. These cells are pluripotent, and when exposed to certain stimuli will differentiate to express the phenotype of mature white blood cells<sup>100</sup>. It was found that exposure to the organic solvent, Dimethylformamide (DMF) would result in the differentiation of these cells to granulocytes or 'pseudogranulocytes' with the morphological and biochemical properties of peripheral human neutrophils<sup>87</sup> (Figure 15).

In order to establish the OPA testing of mouse immune sera in our laboratory, we acquired pooled serum standardized by the World Health Organization (WHO-S) from humans vaccinated with PSV23 (Pneumovax23®) to use as a positive control. Indeed, we found that WHO reference serum mediated significant killing of SP3 bacteria through opsonphagocytosis with HL60-derived pseudogranulocytes, achieving 50% killing at titers between 1:32 and 1:128 (Figure 16). By contrast, serum from naïve, nonimmune mice (NMS) failed to induce significant bacterial killing (Figure 16). Per WHO definition, an effective concentration of serum antibodies corresponds to one that achieves 50% or greater-reduction of CFU-count<sup>98,101</sup>. For further optimization, effectivity of two complement-factor sources

(Biozol<sup>™</sup> and CedarLane<sup>™</sup>) was also compared, showing better killing in assays utilizing Biozol's<sup>™</sup> baby rabbit complement (Figure 16).



Figure 16. A comparison of bacterial killing curves in OPAs utilizing HL60-derived pseudogranulocytes with either Biozol<sup>TM</sup> or CedarLane<sup>TM</sup>-sources of complement factor and nonimmune mouse serum (NMS) or WHO-S (Immunized, WHO-Serum). Shown is the mean  $\pm$ SEM. n= 5.

To further confirm effectivity of OPAs with primary human cells, we isolated human neutrophils (PHN) from peripheral blood of healthy blood donors by density gradient centrifugation as stated in detail in the Methods section. PHN showed slightly better killing capacity in OPA compared to HL60 derived pseudogranulocytes (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Bacterial killing in OPAs utilizing PHN as effector cells and Biozol<sup>TM</sup> complement and either WHO-S or NMS. Shown is the mean  $\pm SEM$ . n=5
To sum up, we established a standardized *in vitro* assay (OPA) to assess the functionality of humoral immunity to *S. pneumoniae*.

### IV. B. Results from Short Term Vaccination Studies.

### **IV. B. i. Preliminary Studies**

#### IV. B. i. 1. OPAs

# Immune sera from SP3-Tetrasaccharide vaccinated mice facilitate significant opsonophagocytosis.

Sera derived from experiments conducted by our collaborators at the MPIKG included mice immunized with SP3-Tetrasachharide + Alum following a prime-boost regimen (day 0, 14, 28), were analyzed by OPA (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Time-line of the prime-boost SP3-Tetrasaccharide vaccinations, followed by infection and OPA.

Data from OPAs using sera from mice treated in this way, taken at 2 and 3 weeks following the second boosting, were pooled and compared to sera from naïve mice. The OPA analyses demonstrated efficient opsonophagocytic capacity of immune sera from mice at 2 weeks post-boosting, with 50%

killing or greater at titers up to 1:256. Sera taken from mice at 3 weeks post-booster effected killing at all concentrations (Figure 19).



Figure 19. OPAs utilizing pooled sera from 6 mice treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide (SP3-ts) + CFA at 2 and 3 weeks after second boosting. Shown is the mean killing achieved using pooled sera from 6 mice, with each experimental condition repeated a total of 6 times.

Pooled sera from mice treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide + CFA taken at 4 weeks post primary-vaccination (i.e. before the second boosting) and at 1 and 2 weeks after the second boosting showed significant killing when compared to controls and earlier time-points (Figures 20 A-B & 21).



Figure 20-A. Killing achieved with Pooled sera from 6 Mice in a pre-immune state, at 1 and 2 weeks following vaccination.



Figure 20-B. Killing achieved with Pooled sera from 6 Mice 4 weeks following primary vaccination (SP3-ts+CFA), and at 1 and 2 weeks following the second boosting (SP3-ts+CFA). Each experimental condition was carried out once, as there was insufficient serum to perform multiple trials.

A selection of data points from each curve from the data-sets described above corresponding to a dilution of 1:128 further illustrates effective bacterial killing a month after primary vaccination and at 1 and 2 weeks post boosting (Figure 21).



Figure 21. Selection of mean bacterial killing capacity in OPA of pooled sera (dilution 1:128) from animals vaccinated using SP3-Tetrasaccharide (SP3-ts) + CFA.

Using a standardized WHO OPA for preclinical testing, these results demonstrated a functional immunogenicity of the newly generated semi-synthetic Alum or CFA adjuvanted SP3-Tetrasaccharide vaccine.

#### IV. B. ii. Establishment and Execution of In Vivo Experiments.

#### Applying a mouse-model of pneumonia for *in-vivo* vaccine assessment.

While there is no standard animal-model of pneumonia, the effects of *S. pneumoniae* in mice have been well characterized in the literature<sup>102,84</sup>. A challenge-experiment in which animals are directly inoculated with a quantity of bacteria sufficient to cause fulminant pneumonia represents an effective means of testing vaccine protection<sup>103</sup>. Pneumococcal serotypes differ in terms of the effect they have on their host. SP3 often causes bacteremia and pneumogenic sepsis that often affects the liver and other organ-systems<sup>102</sup>. An effective vaccine for SP3 should therefore be able not only to protect against bacterial burden of the lungs and the effects of pneumonia, but also to reduce bacterial translocation to the bloodstream and involvement of other organ-systems.

The parameters used to evaluate the effects of SP3-Tetrasacharide were established to encompass the clinical, physiological, laboratory and histological measures of disease in mice.

SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum protects mice against challenge with SP3 35 days post immunization.

IV. B. ii. 1. Clinical Data: appearance, bodyweight and temperature.

# Vaccinated animals showed clinical signs of protection from SP3 challenge, as well as maintenance of bodyweight and temperature as compared to unvaccinated animals.

Animals were monitored in 12-hour intervals for signs of disease. Clinically, mice with severe illness exhibit signs of inactivity, reduced feeding and grooming and excessive lacrimation<sup>104</sup>. Body weight declines over the course of progressive disease and body temperature drops in cases of fulminant bacterial invasion and sepsis<sup>104</sup>. Regular and frequent monitoring and documentation of these parameters can indicate the trajectory of the disease course in animals<sup>104</sup>. For the purposes of this study, these parameters were monitored at 12-hour intervals.

Clinical observation of the mice showed telltale signs of disease. Reduced activity, hunched posture, lacrimation and starry fur were seen in varying degrees in mice from the PBS-treated and SP3-Tetrasaccharide -only groups, whereas SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum mice were completely free from such signs.

The body weight of *S. pneumoniae* infected mice immunized with adjuvanted vaccine did not drop significantly from baseline (n=11; 92.48  $\pm$  3.45%; p>0.05). In contrast, the control non-immunized group and the group immunized in the absence of Alum adjuvant showed significant bodyweight loss. SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum mice showed significantly better maintenance of body-weight at 48 hours after infection (n=11; 92.48 %  $\pm$  3.35 %) compared with infected mice treated with PBS (n=11; 84.14 %  $\pm$  7.04 %; p<0.001) and the group receiving SP3-Tetrasaccharide only (n=11; 84.6 %  $\pm$  5.67 %; p<0.01). Predictably, PBS-treated, uninfected mice showed the least drop in weight (n=9; 96.99 %  $\pm$  4.27 %: p>0.05) (Fig's. 22 & 23).



Figure 22. Average body weight over time in the 48 hours following pneumococcal challenge, shown as a percentage of body weight at time=0 (PBS / PBS = Phosphate-buffered saline - sham-infected, unvaccinated animals; PBS / SP3 = unvaccinated mice infected with SP3). Shown is the mean  $\pm$ SEM. 1-Way ANOVA n=9 PBS/PBS; n=11 for PBS/SP3, SP3-Tetrasaccharide/SP3 and SP3-Tetrasaccharide+Alum/SP3



Figure 23. Average body weight of mice 48h post-challenge. [\*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001] 1 way ANOVA, Shown are the data for each animal and the mean (horizontal bar; PBS / PBS = Phosphate-buffered saline - sham-infected, unvaccinated animals; PBS / SP3 = unvaccinated mice infected with SP3). 1-Way ANOVA. n=9 PBS/PBS; n=11 for PBS/SP3, SP3-Tetrasaccharide/SP3 and SP3-Tetrasaccharide+Alum/SP3.

Fever in humans corresponds to a temperature drop in mice<sup>104</sup>. We found that the changes in body temperature in the experimental groups mirrored the changes in body-weight described above (Figures 24 & 25). Body-temperature 48 hours post pneumococcal challenge showed declines in the PBS-treated, infected group (n=11; 36.07 °C  $\pm$  0.88 °C; p<0.01) and the SP3-Tetrasaccharide-only control groups (n=11; 35.91°C  $\pm$  1.79 °C p<0.01); whereas the SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum group maintained body-temperature (n=11; 37.11°C  $\pm$  0.36 °C; p>0.5 ), reflecting the protective effect of the adjuvanted vaccine. Our negative-controls, which were unvaccinated and sham-infected, showed no significant decline in body temperature (n=9; 37.68°C  $\pm$  0.28 °C p>0.5).



Figure 24. Average body-temperature in the experimental groups during the 48 hours following pneumococcal infection. Shown is the mean  $\pm$ SEM, n=9 PBS/PBS; n=11 for PBS/SP3, SP3-Tetrasaccharide/SP3 and SP3-Tetrasaccharide+Alum/SP3.



Figure 25. Body-temperature 48 hours post pneumococcal challenge. Shown are the values for each individual animal, the mean is represented by the horizontal bar. [\*\*p<0.01] 1-Way ANOVA, n=9 PBS/PBS; n=11 for PBS/SP3, SP3-Tetrasaccharide/SP3 and SP3-Tetrasaccharide+Alum/SP3.

#### IV. B. ii. 2. Bacterial Burden in the Lung and in Blood.

# Animals immunized with Alum-adjuvanted SP3-Tetrasaccharide showed overall lower bacterial burden of the lung, and lower levels of bacteremia compared to controls.

*S. pneumoniae* pneumonia in mice is associated with high bacterial burdens in pulmonary secretions and lung tissue<sup>102,105</sup>; bacteremia and sepsis are also frequent complications of pneumococcal pneumonia<sup>106</sup>. Quantification of colony forming units (CFU) in both bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and homogenized lung tissue allows for the quantification of bacterial load in the lung; CFU counts in whole blood may be used to assess levels of bacteremia, and thereby sepsis<sup>107,108</sup>. Bacterial clearance was measured by CFU counts from plating BALF, lung-tissue homogenates, and whole blood samples on sheep-blood agar. We found that bacterial loads in the BALF of SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum animals (n=8; 3 CFU/ $\mu$ L ± 3/ $\mu$ L) were significantly lower than those in SP3-Tetrasaccharide-only controls (n=6; 5.18 x 10<sup>2</sup> CFU/ $\mu$ L ± 1.12 x 10<sup>3</sup>/ $\mu$ L; p<0.05). Bacterial load in the vaccinated group was also lower than in PBS-treated, infected animals (n=8; 1.016 x 10<sup>3</sup> CFU/ $\mu$ L ± 1.844 x  $10^3$  CFU/µL), but this difference is not statistically significant at conventional levels (p>0.5) (see Figure 26).



Figure 26. CFU counts obtained from BALF by plating samples on sheep-blood agar and overnight incubation. [\*p<0.05]1-Way ANOVA. (n= 8 for PBS / SP3 and SP3-ts + Alum groups; n= 7 for SP3-ts / SP3 groups).

These results were reflected by bacterial burdens in homogenized lung tissue samples, in which significantly better bacterial clearance was seen in the vaccine-adjuvant group when compared to controls (Figure 27). Bacterial load in SP3-tetrasaccharide + Alum mice (n=8; 9.47 x  $10^4$  CFU/g ± 2.59 x  $10^5$  CFU/g) was significantly lower than in both the PBS-treated, infected mice (n=8; 1.75 x $10^8$  CFU/g ± 1.53 x  $10^8$  CFU/g; p<0.01) and the SP3-Tetrasaccharide only group (n=8; 2.15 x  $10^8$  CFU/g ± 2.99 x  $10^8$  CFU/g; p<0.05).



Figure. 27. Bacterial load in homogenized lung-tissue 48 hours post pneumococcal challenge. 1-Way ANOVA [\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01], n=8 for all groups.

Levels of bacteremia were pronounced in control animals, whereas the animals in the adjuvanatedvaccine group showed virtually no bacterial invasion into the blood stream (Figure 28). SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum treated mice (n=8; 0.5 CFU/ $\mu$ L ± 1.41 CFU/ $\mu$ L) were lower than those in both the SP3-Tetrasacharide only group (n=8; 5.10 x 10<sup>2</sup> CFU/ $\mu$ L ± 5.96 x 10<sup>2</sup> CFU/ $\mu$ L; p<0.05) and the PBS-treated group (n=8; 2.53 x 10<sup>2</sup> $\mu$ L ± 2.36 x 10<sup>2</sup> CFU/ $\mu$ L; p<0.05).



Figure 28. CFU counts in whole blood 48 hours after pneumococcal challenge. 1-Way ANOVA. [\*p<0.05] n=8 for all groups.

### IV. B. ii. 3. White Cell Counts in the Lung and in Blood.

Bacterial pneumonia is characterized by a massive influx of inflammatory leukocytes into the infected lung tissue, and extravasation of those cells and fluid into the air-spaces<sup>109</sup>. Leukocyte-, and especially Neutrophil infiltration in the case of *S. pneumoniae* plays a central role in the mediation of innate response to invasive organisms<sup>110,111</sup>, involving activation and excretion of inflammatory factors such as pneumolysin, reactive-oxygen species and proteases, causing both bactericide and lung parenchyma edema, tissue damage and fluid-accumulation<sup>112,113</sup>. These inflammatory responses and the secondary effects of inflammation are the hallmarks of pneumonia, and are typically reflected as "pulmonary infiltrate" in the chest X-ray of pneumonia patients<sup>114,115</sup>. Here, as a marker of disease-severity, we quantified leukocyte infiltration of the lung and the alveolar space using flow cytometry. Leukocyte counts in BALF were performed 48 hours after infection, and revealed a significantly greater number of leukocytes in the PBS-treated, infected mice (n=8; 2.02 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/mL  $\pm$  1.60 x 10<sup>5</sup>/mL) and the SP3-Tetrasaccharide only group (n=7; 2.53 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL  $\pm$  1.50 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL) (p<0.05 & p<0.01, respectively). A higher leukocyte count in the SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum group was also detected,

but is not statistically significant at conventional levels (n=8; 1.39 x  $10^5 \pm 6.74$  x  $10^4$  cells/mL; p>0.05) (Figure 29).



Figure 29. Leukocyte counts in BALF 48 hours post pneumococcal infection. 1-Way ANOVA. [\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01], n=8 for all groups.

The relative proportions of Leukocytes may shed light on specific- vs. non-specific immune response to bacterial challenge. The nonspecific response to bacterial invasion is characterized primarily by granulocytes, which play a role in phagocytocis<sup>116</sup> and secretion of bacteriotoxic substances<sup>96,98,117</sup>. The specific or adaptive immune response, by contrast, is characterized by a mobilization of B-Lymphocytes, and specifically Plasma-Cells, which produce opsonizing antibodies important for assisting phagocytosis and cell-clearance<sup>118,119</sup>. Performing differential cell-counts of BALF and peripheral blood allows for an assessment of which of the two immune-responses predominate in vaccinated or non-vaccinated animals<sup>84,120,121</sup>.

To further differentiate and quantify the infiltrating leukocyte populations, we performed multi-color flow cytometry. Absolute neutrophilia was observed in both the PBS-treated, infected mice (n=7; 1.53 x  $10^5$  cells/mL ± 1.23 x  $10^5$  cells/mL) as well as the SP3-Tetrasaccharide-only mice (n=6; 1.67 x  $10^5$  cells/mL ± 1.32 x  $10^2$  cells/mL) compared to the PBS-treated uninfected mice (n=6; 8.85 x  $10^2$  cells/mL ± 4.82 x  $10^2$  cells/mL) where p<0.05 in both cases (Figure 30-A).

In comparison to PBS-treated, uninfected mice, the percentage of Neutrophils (%Neu) in BALF was dramatically higher in the infected control mice (n=7; 56.29 %Neu  $\pm$  28.06 %Neu; p<0.01), in mice treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide only (n=6; 63.92 %Neu  $\pm$  8.07 %Neu; p<0.05) and in SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum treated mice (n=7; 48.54 %Neu  $\pm$  17.34 %Neu) (Figure 30-B).

The absolute Macrophage count in BALF did not differ significantly between groups. Unvaccinated, uninfected controls showed an absolute number of cells in BALF (6.48 x  $10^4$  cells/mL ± 4.53 x  $10^4$  cells/mL) that did not differ significantly from either the SP3-tetrasaccharide-only mice (n=6; 6.98 x  $10^4 \pm 10^4$  cells/mL; p>0.05) SP3-tetrasaccharide + Alum (n=7; 6.48 x  $10^4$  cells/mL ± 1.82 x  $10^4$  cells/mL; p>0.05) or the PBS-treated, infected animals (n=6; 2.07 ± 7.83 x  $10^3$  cells/mL; p>0.05). In contrast, the relative number of macrophages in PBS-treated, infected mice (n=7; 38.32 %Ma ± 23.28 %Ma; p<0.001), the SP3-tetrasaccharide-only mice (n=6; 37.9 %Ma ± 7.9 %Ma; p<0.001) and SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum (n=7; 31.86 %Ma ± 7.77 %Ma; p<0.001) were all significantly lower than those observed in PBS-treated, infected mice (n=6; 91.52 ± 3.54 %Ma)(Figure. 30-C/D).

Greater absolute numbers of Lymphocytes in SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum animals (n=7; 1.69 x  $10^4$  cells/mL ± 1.24 x  $10^4$ ) were observed when compared to both PBS-treated, uninfected animals (n=6; 7.71 x  $10^2 \pm 3.74$  x  $10^2$  cells/mL; p<0.01) and PBS-treated, infected animals (n=7; 4.35 x  $10^3 \pm 2.29$  x  $10^3$  cells/mL; p<0.05), but not when compared to the SP3-tetrasaccharide-only animals (n=7; 7.71 x  $10^3$  cells/mL ± 6.15 x  $10^3$ ; p>0.05). The latter group did not show absolute numbers of Lymphocytes that differed from those of the other groups.

The percentage of Lymphocytes (%Ly) were observed in SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum mice (n=7; 12.57 %Ly  $\pm$  9.76 %Ly) were also shown to be significantly higher than in PBS-treated, uninfected mice (n=6; 3.44 %Ly  $\pm$  1.58 %Ly; p<0.05), PBS-treated, infected mice (n=7; 3.16 %Ly  $\pm$  2.83 %Ly; p<0.05), and SP3-tetrasacharide-only mice (n=6; 3.31 %Ly  $\pm$  1.89 %Ly; p<0.05) (Figure. 30-E/F). These findings strongly suggest an adaptive immune response in adjuvanted, vaccinated animals. When taken together with the findings on bacterial burden described above, they further suggest that the (highly protective) effect of vaccination in these animals is facilitated by antibody-producing lymphocytes.



Figure 30 A-F. Figure 13-A: Differential cell-counts of BALF obtained using FACS. 1-Way ANOVA (\*p<0.05 \*\*p<0.01 \*\*\*p<0.001) n=7 for PBS / PBS; n=8 for PBS / SP3, SP3-ts / SP3 and SP3-ts + Alum / SP3.

# Differential cell counts performed in whole blood: leukocytosis of peripheral blood as a marker for disease severity and immune-response.

The mobilization of leukocytes in pneumonia is a hallmark sign of disease severity<sup>96,122,123</sup>. We measured absolute leukocyte counts in peripheral blood samples. In comparison to SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum mice (n=8; 2.68  $\pm$  7.64 x 10<sup>2</sup> cells/µL), absolute Leukocyte counts were significantly lower in PBS-treated, infected animals (n=8; 1.27  $\pm$  7.03 x10<sup>2</sup> cells/µL; p<0.01) and in SP3-tetrasaccharide-only mice (n=8; 1.36  $\pm$  5.98 x 10<sup>2</sup> cells/µL). Leukocyte counts in PBS-treated, uninfected mice (n=7; 2.04 x 10<sup>3</sup> cells/µL  $\pm$  7.22 x10<sup>2</sup> cells/µL; p<0.05) did not differ significantly from any of the other groups, probably representing an unstimulated state with regard to Lymphocyte proliferation (Fig 31).



Figure. 31. Absolute cell counts in whole-blood performed 48 hours after pneumococcal challenge. TruCOUNT<sup>TM</sup> of whole-blood. 1-Way ANOVA. [\*\* p < 0.01] n = 7 for PBS / PBS; n = 8 for PBS / SP3, SP3-ts / SP3 and SP3-ts + Alum / SP3.

We then further differentiated the blood leukocytes by flow cytometry (Figure 32). Absolute Neutrophil-counts differed significantly only between SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum animals (n=8; 6.04 x  $10^2 \pm 4.13$  cells/ µL) and PBS-treated, uninfected animals (n=7; 1.83 x  $10^2 \pm 79.3$  cells/µL; p<0.05). Counts performed in whole blood from either PBS-treated infected animals (n=8; 3.19 x $10^2 \pm 2.12$  x $10^2$  cells/ µL) and SP3-tetrasaccharide only animals (n=8; 3.02 x  $10^2 \pm 1.62$  x  $10^2$  cells/ µL; p<0.05) revealed no significant differences between groups.

The relative proportion of Neutrophils showed no significant variance (p>0.05) at all between groups. (PBS/PBS: n=7; 8.88  $\pm$  2.24 %Neu); (PBS/SP3: n=8; 24.80  $\pm$  13.33%Neu); (SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum/SP3: n=8; 22.21  $\pm$  14.03 %Neu); (SP3-tetrasaccharide/SP3: n=8; 23.14  $\pm$  9.81 %Neu).

Some significant differences were observed in the absolute count of blood Monocytes between PBStreated, uninfected mice  $(n=7; 1.73 \times 10^2 \pm 6.73 \times 10^2 \text{ cells/ }\mu\text{L})$  and SP3-tetrasaccharide-only animals  $(n=8; 3.52 \times 10^2 \pm 1.02 \times 10^2 \text{ cells/}\mu\text{L})$ , where the latter showed higher numbers than the former. Unvaccinated, infected mice  $(n=8; 3.02 \times 10^2 \pm 84.78 \times 10 \text{ cells/}\mu\text{L})$  and SP3-tetrasaccharide +Alum mice  $(n=8; 2.89 \times 10^2 \pm 1.08 \times 10^2 \text{ cells/}\mu\text{L})$  also showed slightly higher monocyte counts than the unvaccinated, uninfected mice, but these were not significant at the conventional level (p>0.05).

Measures of the relative number of blood monocytes (%Mono), revealed that PBS-treated, infected animals (n=8; 27.63 %Mono  $\pm$  9.5 %Mono) and SP3-tetrasaccharide –only mice (n=8; 28.48 %Mono  $\pm$  9.16 %Mono) had significantly higher proportions (p<0.001 in both cases) of circulating monocytes than in both SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum, infected (n=8; 10.60 %Mono  $\pm$  2.07 %Mono) and PBS-treated, uninfected groups (n=7; 8.82 %Mono  $\pm$  2.39 %Mono) (Figure 32-D).

By contrast, both the absolute and relative lymphocyte counts for the PBS-treated, uninfected mice and, more importantly, for the SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum group were significantly higher than those of the unvaccinated, infected group, and the mice treated with the conjugate without adjuvant.

Absolute counts of lymphocytes in the SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum group (n=8;  $1.76 \times 10^3 \pm 5.80 \times 10^2$  cells/µL) were significantly higher than those in both the PBS-treated, infected mice (n=8;  $6.33 \times 10^2 \pm 5.73 \times 10^2$  cells/µL; p<0.01) and in mice treated only with SP3-tetrasaccharide (n=8;  $6.85 \times 10^2 \pm 4.73 \times 10^2$  cells/µL; p<0.01). Unvaccinated, infected animals (n=7;  $1.66 \times 10^3 \pm 6.12 \times 10^2$  cells/µL) showed higher levels of absolute lymphocyte counts than both the unvaccinated, infected animals (p<0.05) and the mice treated with only SP3-tetrasaccharide (p<0.01). (Figure 32-E).

Significantly lower rates of relative lymphocyte counts compared to the SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum mice (n=8; 66.31 %Ly  $\pm$  14.51 %Ly) were seen in both the PBS-treated, infected controls (n=8; 46.23 Ly%  $\pm$  12.26 %Ly; p<0.05) and the SP3-tetrasaccharide-only, infected group (n=8; 47.17 %Ly  $\pm$  11.39 %Ly; p<0.05). The PBS-treated, uninfected controls (n=7; 81.15%Ly  $\pm$  4.30 %Ly) showed significantly higher relative numbers of circulating lymphocytes than both the PBS-treated, infected animals and the SP3-tetrasaccharide-only animals (p<0.001 for both cases). (Figure 32-F).



Figure 32 A-F. FACS analysis of leukocyte populations in whole blood. 1-Way ANOVA\*p<0.05\*\*p<0.01\*\*\*p<0.001) n=7 for PBS / PBS; n=8 for PBS / SP3, SP3-ts / Sp3 and SP3-ts + Alum / SP3.

### IV. B. ii. 4. Pulmonary Function Tests

# SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum vaccination protects against lung damage and decreased lung function following *S. pneumoniae* infection.

We next assessed lung function parameters to determine the effects of SP3-Tetrasaccharide vaccination on pneumonia induced organ dysfunction. These measurements were performed by Dr. vet. med. Katrin Reppe and kindly provided for inclusion in this thesis for completeness.

As discussed above, bacterial pneumonia caused by *S. pneumoniae* is hallmarked by leukocyte extravasation and edema<sup>124</sup>. The functional consequences are reduced pulmonary compliance and increased airway-resistance<sup>125,126,85</sup>.

Pulmonary compliance refers to the distensability of lung parenchyma in response to changes in (pleural) pressure<sup>127</sup>; pulmonary edema reduces pulmonary compliance by increasing the rigidity of parenchyma<sup>124</sup>, thereby reducing the lung's ability to expand in a response to reduced pleural pressure, as for example during inspiration<sup>128,129</sup>.

Airway resistance refers to airflow through the upper and lower pulmonary airways, and is determined by two significant factors:

1) airway radius, as shown by Poiseuille's  $law^{130}$ :

$$Airway \ Resistance = \frac{8}{\pi} \cdot \frac{fluid \ viscosity \ \cdot \ tube \ length}{radius^4}$$

and

2) the degree of turbulent airflow vs. laminar airflow $^{127,130}$ .

In order to maintain a given airflow with increasing resistance, an increase in respiratory work to change airway pressure is required, as described by the equation<sup>130</sup>:

Airflow 
$$in\frac{L}{s} = \frac{\Delta \text{ Airway Pressure}}{Airway \text{ Resistance}}$$

Inflammation of the mucosa in pneumonia surrounding the inner lumen of the airways, and the accumulation of mucus and pus in airways cause an decrease in airway diameter, an increase in physical irregularities in airway lumen, and thereby increase of airway resistance and turbulent airflow, respectively <sup>131,132,130</sup>.

The resulting effect is increased respiratory work to produce to maintain an airflow that will ventilate the lungs and to maintain gas-exchange<sup>130</sup>. As respiratory work decompensates, so too does airflow and gas exchange; this leads to a state of respiratory insufficiency, which is characterized by hypoxemia and hypercapnia<sup>133</sup>.

Pulmonary functions tests showed that average lung compliance was lower in sham-vaccinated, infected mice (n=8; 15.78  $\mu$ m/cm H<sub>2</sub>O ± 4.17  $\mu$ m/cm H<sub>2</sub>O; p<0.01) and SP3-tetrasaccharide-only, infected mice (n=8; 16.06  $\mu$ m/cm H<sub>2</sub>O ± 2.45  $\mu$ m/cm H<sub>2</sub>O; p<0.01) than in the sham-vaccinated, uninfected mice (n=7; 22.6  $\mu$ m/cm H<sub>2</sub>O ± 1.0  $\mu$ m/cm H<sub>2</sub>O). Compliance in SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum mice (n=8; 16.06  $\mu$ m/cm H<sub>2</sub>O ± 2.45  $\mu$ m/cm H<sub>2</sub>O) was better than in the PBS-treated, infected animals and the animals treated only with SP3-tetrasaccharide, but not significantly so (p>0.05). At the same time, adjuvanted, vaccinated animals did not have significantly lower compliance than uninfected controls (p>0.05), indicating a partial restoration (Figure 33).



Figure 33. Lung function test measuring lung compliance in the experimental groups depicted. 1-Way ANOVA. [\*\*p<0.01]. n=7 for PBS / PBS; n=8 for PBS / SP3, SP3-ts / SP3 and SP3-ts + Alum / SP3.

Lung resistance was significantly higher only in sham-vaccinated, infected mice (n=8; 2.5 cmH<sub>2</sub>O/mL/s  $\pm$  0.5 µm/cm H<sub>2</sub>O; p<0.01) when compared to PBS-treated, uninfected mice (n=7; 1.9 µm/cm H<sub>2</sub>O  $\pm$  0.22 µm/cm H<sub>2</sub>O). The former group and the group treated only with SP3-tetrasaccaride (n=8; 2.53  $\pm$  0.38 µm/cm H<sub>2</sub>O) showed a resistance that was higher than the SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum animals (n=8; 2.04  $\pm$  0.24 µm/cm H<sub>2</sub>O), but not significantly so (p>0.05 in both cases).



Figure 34. Lung function test measuring lung resistance in the experimental groups depicted. 1-Way ANOVA. [\*\*p<0.01]. n=7 for PBS / PBS; n=8 for PBS / SP3, SP3-ts / SP3 and SP3-ts + Alum / SP3.

### IV. B. iii. In vitro/in vivo Data from Challenge Experiments

### IV. B. iii. 1. OPAs

# **OPAs confirm production of protective antibodies in SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum-vaccinated animals.**

We next assessed the OPA activity of sera in the experimental groups used for the challenge experiments described above. Sera from blood draws performed at day 35 (1 week following the second boosting) were implemented in OPAs and showed effective killing in the vaccinated groups at titers up to 1:32 (Figure 35), essentially confirming the protective effects observed in the vaccination studies.



Figure 35. OPAs were performed with pooled serum from mice taken at 1 week following the second boosting. Sera from 10 mice were pooled for Alum only and Alum + SP3-Tetrasaccharide (SP3-ts)groups, and 11 mice for the PBS groups . Each experimental condition was repeated a total of 4 times. PBS= sham-vaccinated mice, Alum=adjuvanted only, Alum + SP3-ts= mice treated with adjuvanted vaccine.

These results are comparable with those obtained from the preliminary experiments described in the above section on short-term immunity. For the purposes of comparing the effectiveness of the two adjuvants used, data-plots from the experiments implementing CFA instead of Alum were added to the graph in Figure 35. A comparison of the results indicate that vaccines adjuvanted with CFA seem to elicit a more robust antibody OPA-response than the Alum adjuvanted vaccine, producing a reduction of 50% of CFU at a titer up to 1:256 (Figure 36).



Figure 36. Comparison of bacterial killing with sera obtained from mice treated either with an Alum- or CFA-conjugate. Sera from 10 mice were pooled for Alum only and Alum + SP3-ts groups, 11 mice for the PBS groups and 6 for the CFA groups. Experimental conditions were repeated a total of 8 times for conditions using mice treated with PBS, Alum, Alum + SP3-Tetrasaccharide (SP3-ts), and 4 times for mice treated with CFA + SP3-Tetrasaccharide.

#### IV. C. Results from the Long-Term Vaccination Study.

# SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum vaccination does not provide clinically effective long-term immunity.

One of the big advantages of vaccines is their capacity to afford long-lasting protective immunity against infections. It was therefore critical to assess the long-term efficacy of the newly generated semi-synthetic conjugate vaccine in our model. Given the relatively short life span of laboratory mice, we chose a 4-month time point as a proxy to determine long-term immune protection.

A challenge at 35 days, i.e. 7 days following the most recent boosting, corresponds to the end of the window in which a primary immune response to a new antigen can still be in effect<sup>72,134</sup>. Long-term memory must take effect for protection to be observed greater than 21-day after boosting<sup>134,72</sup>. Performing a challenge at 116 days following the second boosting creates experimental conditions in which the primary response to vaccination will have phased out completely, and the secondary immune response to vaccination can be specifically examined for effectivity<sup>135</sup>.

Disappointingly, mice were not protected against pneumonia 4 months after vaccination with SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum, as evidenced by high levels of all indices of infection.

### IV. C. i. Clinical Data: appearance, bodyweight and temperature.

# Bodyweight and temperature as indicators of disease-severity dropped in vaccinated animals by a margin comparable to non-vaccinated animals.

Body weight (Figures 37 & 38) in all animals decreased from baseline over the 48 hours following challenge, without an observable significant difference between groups. SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum animals (n=10;  $85.1\% \pm 3.4\%$ ) showed a drop in weight similar to that seen in control groups (p>0.05 for both cases) PBS/SP3-Tetrasaccharide (n=11;  $83.4\% \pm 3.7\%$ ) and Alum/SP3 (n=9;  $84.1\% \pm 2.8\%$ ), thus indicating fulminant disease in all groups, with no protective response to challenge observed in vaccinated animals.



Figure 37. Average body-weight across groups showing a uniform decline across groups in the 48 hours post- pneumococcal challenge, with no statistically significant difference between groups. 1-Way ANOVA. n=10 for SP3-Tetrasaccharide (SP3-ts) + Alum, n=11 for PBS/SP3-Tetrasaccharide, n=9 for Alum/SP3



Figure 38. Distribution of body-weight percent of base-line 48 hours following pneumococcal challenge. 1-Way ANOVA n=10 for SP3-tetrasacchride (SP3-ts) + Alum, n=11 for PBS/SP3-ts, n=9 for Alum/SP3.

Similarly, all groups showed a comparable decline in body-temperature in the 48h following pneumococcal challenge. The average value of this parameter did not vary significantly between groups (PBS/SP3 (n=11; 35.0 °C  $\pm$  1.7 °C); Alum/SP3(n=9; 35.0 °C  $\pm$  2.1); SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum (n=9; 34.8 °C  $\pm$  3.1 °C), with p>0.05 in all cases), indicating that vaccinated animals were not more protected from disease progression than non-vaccinated animals (Figures 39 & 40).



Figure 39. Average body-temperature across groups during the 46 hours following pneumococcal challenge, with no statistically significant differences between groups. n=10 for SP3-Tetrasacchraide (SP3-ts) + Alum, n=11 for PBS/SP3-ts, n=9 for Alum/SP3.



Figure 40. Distribution of temperatures across groups 48 hours following pneumococcal challenge. 1-Way ANOVA. n = 9 for PS3-ts + Alum; n = 11 for PBS/SP3 (n = 11); n = 9 for Alum/SP3

### IV. C. ii. Bacterial Burden in the Lung and in Blood.

CFU-counts in BALF, lung-tissue and whole-blood, performed 116 days following challenge show no significant differences across groups.

#### **CFU-counts in BALF**

These general, clinical signs of disease progression and severity in the animals were reflected in the more specific indices of disease. CFU counts from BAL fluid, lung-tissue and blood were similar across all groups, including high bacterial burden in both SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum and control groups, reflecting ineffective clearing of bacteria from the lungs. The CFU counts conducted using BAL-fluid were as follows: SP3-Tetrasaccharide+Alum treated mice showed bacterial burden (n=7;  $5.77 \times 10^3 \pm 1.30 \times 10^4$  CFU/µL BALF) similar to those in sham-vaccinated animals (PBS/PBS: n=8;  $6.87 \times 10^3 \pm 1.67 \ 7 \times 10^4$  CFU/µL BALF) and mice treated only with Alum (n=6;  $1.53 \times 10^4 \pm 3.76 \times 10^4$  CFU/µL BALF), p>0.05 in all cases. (Figure 41).

### **CFU-counts in Lung-Tissue**

Similarly high CFU-counts were seen in the lung-tissue of SP3-tetrasaccharide+Alum treated mice (n=7: 8.20  $\times 10^7 \pm 1.49 \times 10^8$  CFU per 1/2 Lung and 3.89  $\times 10^8 \pm 6.92 \times 10^8$  CFU/g lung-tissue), sham-vaccinated mice (PBS/SP3) (n=8: 1.50  $\times 10^8 \pm 2.59 \times 10^8$  CFU per 1/2 lung and 7.98  $\times 10^8 \pm 1.30 \times 10^9$  CFU/g lung-tissue), as well as only Alum adjuvanted mice (n=6: 4.21  $\times 10^7 \pm 6.10 \times 10^7$  CFU per 1/2 lung and 2.23  $\times 10^8 \pm 3.09 \times 10^8$  CFU/g lung-tissue) (Figure 42).



Figure 41. Distribution of CFU counts obtained from BALF. 1-Way ANOVA. n=8 for PBS / SP3; n=6 for Alum/SP3; n=7 for SP3-Tetrasaccharide (SP3-ts) + Alum.



Figure 42. Distribution of CFU counts obtained from homogenized lung tissue Distribution of CFU counts obtained from BALF. 1-Way ANOVA. n=8 for PBS / SP3; n=6 for Alum/SP3; n=7 for SP3-ts + Alum.

#### **CFU-counts in Whole-Blood**

Bacteremia was similarly high in all groups, with no significant difference in average CFU counts. Animals treated with Alum-aduvanted SP3-Tetrasaccharide showed a tendency towards lower bacterial loads in the blood (n=7.  $1.77 \times 10^3 \pm 2.21 \times 10^3$  CFU/µL), but this did not differ significantly from those in animals sham-treated with PBS (n=8;  $3.05 \times 10^4 \pm 6.29 \times 10^4$  CFU/µL; p>0.05), and importantly, animals treated only with Alum showed a similar trend (n=6;  $6.27 \times 10^3 \pm 1.51 \times 10^4$  CFU), indicating that there was no protective immunity in SP3-Tetrasaccharide vaccinated animals 4 months after vaccination (Figure 43).



Figure 43. Distribution of CFU counts from whole blood across groups. 1-Way ANOVA. n=8 for PBS / SP3; n=6 for Alum/SP3; n=7 for SP3-ts + Alum.

### IV. C. iii. Leukocyte Counts in the Lung and in Blood.

# Cell recruitment determined by FACS in vaccinated, adjuvanted animals after 116 day shows no difference when compared to control animals.

Absolut and differential cell-counts, as measured by FACS, can indicate both the scale and quantity of disease and immune response. An increase in certain cell-lineages can be a gross indicator of disease; the relative proportion of those cell-lineages can indicate the predominance of certain elements of the immune response<sup>135</sup>. To this end, absolute and differential cell counts in whole-blood and BALF were performed.

#### Absolute Leukocyte Counts in BALF and Whole-Blood

Absolute cell counts (as determined by TruCOUNT<sup>TM</sup> and FACS) showed an immune-response that was similar across all groups, with increases in total leukocytes in both BALF and whole-blood. Results for counts performed in BALF: (PBS/SP3 (n=8; 4.32 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL ± 3.55 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL; p>0.05); Alum/SP3 (n=6; 5.49 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL ± 7.14 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL); SP3-Tetrasaccharide+Alum/SP3 (n=7; 5.15 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL ± 5.35 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL) (Figure 44). Results for counts performed with whole blood: PBS/PBS (n=8; 1.49 x 10<sup>3</sup> cells/µL ± 1.11 x10<sup>3</sup> cells/µL); Alum/SP3 (n=5; 1.81 x 10<sup>3</sup> cells/µL)

 $\pm$  1.14 x 10<sup>3</sup> cells/µL); SP3-Tetrasaccharide+Alum/SP3 (n=6; 1.80 x 10<sup>3</sup> cells/µL  $\pm$  6.79 x 10<sup>2</sup> cells/µL) (Figure 45). No significant differences could be found between groups (p>0.05 in all cases).



Figure 44. Distribution of absolute leukocyte-counts obtained from BALF with TruCOUNT. n=8 for PBS / SP3; n=6 for Alum/SP3; n=7 for SP3-Tetrasaccharide (SP3-ts) + Alum.

## IV. C. iv. Pulmonary Endothelial Permeability

# Pulmonary endothelial permeability increased in all experimental groups following bacterial challenge.

As discussed above, *S. pneumoniae* disrupts the integrity of the lung parenchyma via several virulence factors, including pneumolysin and autolysin, resulting in a concomitant reduction in pulmonary compliance and an increase in resistance. Destruction of the lung epithelia by the same mechanism compromises the integrity of the blood-lung barrier, resulting in the accumulation of exudate and consequently pulmonary edema from the accumulation of albumin<sup>105,107,136</sup>.

Barrier integrity can be measured by administering human serum albumin (HSA) to mice, and then quantifying the level of HSA in the blood and BALF by ELISA. The resulting quotient of the

concentration of HSA in the BALF and blood provides an indirect measure of barrier integrity; a higher ratio indicates greater compromise of the alveolar-capillary barrier<sup>137,138</sup>.

Albumin BALF/plasma ratios showed slightly lower ratios in animals treated with Alum-only when compared to the two other groups, but this difference was not statistically significant. Albumin BALF/plasma ratio in PBS-treated animals (n=8,  $36.72 \pm 43.71$  albumin BALF/Plasma) in adjuvant-only animals (n=6,  $17.83 \pm 20.13$  albumin BALF/Plasma) and in adjuvanted, vaccinated animals (n=7,  $28.38 \pm 39.97$  albumin BALF/Plasma) showed no significant differences (Figure 48), reflecting comparable histopathological changes in the examined lungs following pneumococcal challenge, and thereby no significant protectivity of the adjuvanted vaccine.



Figure 48. Pulmonary endothelial permeability as determined by HSA ELISA and expressed as albumin BALF/plasma-ratio. 1-Way ANOVA . n=8 for PBS / SP3; n=6 for Alum/SP3; n=7 for SP3-Tetrasaccharide (SP3-ts) + Alum.

# V. Discussion

In this study, a semi-synthetic glycoconjugate vaccine candidate for *S. pneumoniae* type 3 (SP3-Tetrasaccharide) was evaluated for efficiency both in *in-vivo* and *in-vitro* trials. Experiments were carried out to determine both the short-term and the long-term efficiency of the vaccine, and to characterize the responses *in-vitro/ex vivo* and *in-vivo*.

Our principal finding is that this novel vaccine candidate is generally immunogenic. It provides robust protection against SP3 in vaccinated mice challenged at 5 weeks, but the protective effect rapidly wanes, and is not detectable at 16 weeks post immunization. These results indicate that additional immune activators, potentially targeted adjuvants may need to be added to increase long term immunogenicity of the vaccine.

### V. A. Short-Term Immunity

#### Applying WHO-criteria for vaccine efficacy to results from the current study.

As discussed in the Introduction, the WHO-guidelines for determining conjugate vaccine protection include parameters from both *in-vitro/ex vivo* and *in-vivo* studies. These guidelines outline measures for both the conference of protection from morbidity and mortality to vaccinated subjects, as well as the quantity of specific IgG and the functionality of those immunoglobulins, as measured by ELISA and OPAs, respectively<sup>82,139,81</sup>. The guidelines also quantify efficacy for both parameters as follows:

#### *Vaccine efficacy* =

1 - [% of vaccine subjects with [Ab]<Ab(protective)/% of control subjects with [Ab]<Ab(protective)]

= 1 – [ probability of disease in vaccinated group/probability of disease in the control group].

(The established, specific antibody concentration associated with clinical efficacy lies between 0.20 and 0.35  $\mu$ g IgG/mL.<sup>81,139</sup>)

### In-vitro studies confirm vaccine efficacy when SP3-Tetrasaccharide is combined with CFA.

OPAs represent a test for the functionality of the antibodies identified with the ELISA by giving a direct indication of whether bacterial killing can be affected by these antibodies. Titer-response curves yield further, more precise information about the *relative* efficacy of the antibody response. A CFU-counts equal to, or below 50% of the control-CFU count is considered to be indicative of effective killing <sup>82,139,140,101</sup>, and to correspond to a minimum IgG concentration of 0.20  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>141</sup>.

The preliminary studies conducted by Prof. Seeberger's group in MPIKG described in the previous section using quantitative ELISA conducted with sera from mice treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide + CFA showed a high concentration of specific IgG (unpublished data).

OPAs performed with these sera show significant killing of bacteria at one and two-weeks after administration of booster-vaccine, with titers as high as 1:256 achieving 50% killing or greater at both intervals.

Notable, also, is the significant increase in killing achieved with sera taken from mice at 2 weeks postboosting compared to that taken from 1 week post-boosting. These findings could suggest antibody maturation and avidity after booster-vaccination <sup>142</sup>.

In contrast, this killing efficacy was not seen in animals treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum. This is probably a reflection of the influence of confounding variables on that particular day of testing: poor killing was achieved not only with serum from vaccinated mice, but also with the WHO-serum. The factors influencing efficacy in killing can range from degree of differentiation of HL-60 derived psudogranulocytes to improper execution of the experiment. Unfortunately, there was insufficient serum available to perform repeat-trials.

Scarcity of material represents one barrier in normalizing the OPA-data. From our experience in establishing this procedure, the variability of results (as reflected in the date displayed in Figures 16, 17 and 20) can be applied to a multitude of factors. The differentiation of HL-60 cells probably represents the process which introduces the greatest variability into this procedure. Reasons for this may include: differentiation of HL-60 cells to pseudogranulocytes-stock will likely vary between trials; and survivability of differentiated cells may shift as well, often leaving significant detritus which may interfere with opsonization and even phagocytosis. The former of the two potential problems might be addressed by adding further criteria for better assessing the degree of differentiation: using flow cytometry for accurately identifying cell size may be used to better categorize cells in terms of their morphology thereby adding an additional reference-point for adjusting conditions in which HL-60 are differentiated.[1] The latter of the two issues might be addressed by filtering viable cells from deceased ones, possibly with a density gradient as described above for sorting granulocytes.

Another likely factor that might introduce variability is the bacterial stock itself: freezing stabs of bacterial culture, and their subsequent expansion may both represent steps in which significant fluctuation of viable cells between trials might arise. And, while controlling for optical density as a marker for the relative reproducibility of the bacteria, it makes no provision for viability. It is conceivable that bacterial components from lysed or otherwise deceased cells may also interfere with

opsonization by adsorbing antibodies, complement or both. Establishing viability using cytology or plating samples of bacterial culture might both represent methods for further reducing this factor's contribution to inter-trial variability.

Note that CFA is not licensed for human use because of its tendency to produce severe local and systemic side-effects<sup>78</sup>. For this reason, CFA was not implemented as an adjuvant for the *in-vivo* experiments conducted in mice in our facilities. Instead, an adjuvant containing aluminum was implemented, which has been accepted widely for use in humans, including the licensed PCV13 vaccine Prevenar<sup>®</sup><sup>31</sup>.

The clinical data gathered, as well as the laboratory-parameters measured, in the short-term, *in-vivo* experiments conducted in our facilities indicate that vaccinated mice are protected when compared to controls. Mice from the SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum group showed stable body-weights and body-temperatures, in contrast to unvaccinated controls. Clinically, vaccinated mice also showed far fewer signs of illness than control mice; the latter progressed into states of inactivity, showed a tendency towards progressive illness in mice<sup>104</sup>.

Similarly, laboratory analyses showed pronounced signs of illness in control groups, but none in vaccinated animals. Effective bacterial clearance, as measured by CFU-counts, was observed in the blood, BALF and lung-tissue of vaccinated animals. Unvaccinated animals showed heavy bacterial burden in BALF and lung-tissue, as well as severe bacteremia. These findings are in line with previous studies showing that elevated CFU counts from BALF, whole blood and lung tissue from mice correlate positively with disease severity in mice, and negatively with a protected, vaccinated state<sup>107,108</sup>.

The immune response to infection in the different groups was measured using FACS, and encompassed total leukocyte, neutrophil, lymphocyte and monocyte levels in BALF and whole blood. FACS studies using BALF showed, most notably, pronounced increases in % neutrophils and reductions in % macrophages across all groups when compared to healthy controls. Lung neutrophilia is well-documented as an important innate response to bacterial invasion<sup>96,95,120</sup>. The role of macrophages seems to be less well understood, but some evidence does suggest that these cells play less of a role in bacterial clearance than they do in regulating the inflammatory response of, and phagocytosis by, lung-neutrophils<sup>120</sup>. It is conceivable, therefore, that this inverse relationship in the two populations is a reflection of alveolar macrophage-consumption in response to massive neutrophilia.

In whole blood, the most prominent finding was the higher level of monocytes and a concomitant lower level of lymphocytes in both infected control groups compared to the vaccinated group. The latter finding is consistent with previous studies showing changes in the proportion of lymphocytes in peripheral blood<sup>105</sup>.

Pulmonary function tests revealed both a reduction in compliance and an increase in resistance in control-mice. As discussed in the Results-section, these findings likely reflect the effects of key virulence factors such as autolysin and pneumolysin, both of which play a central role in the destruction of lung-paranchyma observed in pneumococcal pneumonia<sup>107,105,136</sup>. Vaccinated mice, in contrast, showed no change relative to healthy controls. These contrasting findings show further support for the protective effects of the vaccine within this time-frame.

In summary, the data stemming from the *in vivo* evaluation of short-term efficacy of the vaccine present a convincing picture of the efficacy of the SP3-Tetrasaccharide vaccine when adjuvanted with Alum.

OPAs conducted with sera obtained at day 35 in the vaccination procedure (i.e. 1 week following the second boosting at day 28) showed significant killing of bacteria in vaccinated animals compared to controls, indicating an effective immune response to the vaccine. OPAs using serum from mice vaccinated using an Alum adjuvant only were not conducted, as other experiments using these sera were prioritized. Ideally, confirmation of adequate IgG production and functionality should have been obtained.

Thus, applying equation (1), we obtain:

*Vaccine efficacy* = 1 - (0 morbidity in vaccinated group)/(22 mice with morbidity/22 mice in control group) = 1.We conclude that SP3-Tetrasaccharide, when adjuvanted with Alum, shows highly effective protection from SP3.

#### The role of Alum in facilitating the immune-response to vaccination.

Results from the afore-mentioned *in vivo* experiments underscore the importance of adjuvants in supporting an effective response to vaccines; protectivity, or lack thereof, in those mice treated only with SP3-Tetrasaccharide was essentially the same as that observed in PBS-treated animals, demonstrating that an adjuvant is necessary for the elicitation of immune-response to the conjugate vaccine.

Many substances have been employed as adjuvants, ranging from Alum, to oil-emulsions, to heatinactivated bacteria, as in the case of CFA. The precise mechanism through which these substances have their effect is still not completely understood<sup>75</sup>, but it is generally accepted that all induce a local inflammatory reaction that results in recruitment of phagocytotic cells and subsequent antigen presentation by dendritic cells and B-cells to T-helper cells<sup>143,71,80,144</sup>. Adjuvants therefore represent an essential component of non-live vaccines, as they are required for bridging the innate and adaptive arm of the immune system, both of which are needed to elicit protective immunity.

This effect is not the same for all adjuvants: different adjuvants produce different qualitative effects upon the immune system<sup>70,143,71,80</sup>; the magnitude of the immune response also differs across substances<sup>144,145</sup>. The latter point, at least, is reflected in our own findings demonstrating higher killing in OPAs using sera from mice treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide + CFA compared to mice treated with SP3-Tetrasaccharide + Alum (see Results). The importance of adjuvants in vaccinations will be revisited in a later section addressing strategies for improving a long-term response to SP3-Tetrasaccharide.

#### V. B. Long-Term Immunity

The same measures of morbidity and mortality implemented in the short-term *in vivo* experiments described above were applied to animals challenged 16 weeks following the same vaccination regime. We also conducted pulmonary endothelial/capillary barrier studies on these mice.

The protective effects of Alum-adjuvanted SP3-Tetrasaccharide at 5 weeks were not observed at 16 weeks. Indeed, no significant differences in morbidity and mortality could be established between vaccinated animals and controls, nor were there significant differences in any of the gross clinical indicators of disease between groups. All infected groups exhibited the telltale signs of clinical illnesses described in the section above. Body-weight and temperature both decreased dramatically from their baseline values in infected mice, with no significant differences between vaccinated and non-vaccinated animals.

Bacterial burden in both blood and in the lungs (both BALF and tissue-samples) was elevated in all groups, indicating no improvement in bacterial clearance in vaccinated animals.

In all groups, FACS-studies showed marked, non-specific leukocytosis in BALF and whole-blood samples, without the differentiated expression of cell-types between cell-groups observed in the FACS studies from the short-term *in-vivo* experiments.

We included lung-endothelial/capillary barrier integrity as an additional parameter to establish disease in these animals. Inflammation of endothelium causes an increase in permeability in the microvasculature<sup>146,147</sup>. In pneumococcal pneumonia, inflammation leads to a weakening of the pulmonary endothelial/capillary barrier and extravasation of bacteria into the blood-stream<sup>148,85</sup>. To estimate the integrity of the lung- endothelial/capillary barrier, the albumin BALF/plasma ratio was measured by comparing serum and BALF- human serum albumin (HAS) concentrations with ELISA. Higher quotients were observed in all infected animals, with no significant differences between groups, indicating a compromised barrier function as a result of pneumococcal invasion in all groups examined<sup>105,137</sup>. These studies further underline the inefficacy of the vaccine in protecting animals from pneumococcal challenge in the long term.

Results from the OPAs conducted with sera obtained 16 weeks after vaccination showed no significant killing of bacteria, and no efficacy according to the WHO-criteria outlined above.

As the vaccinated animals in this series of studies examining the long-term protectivity of SP3-Tetrasaccharide showed pronounced morbidity in all cases, with no significant differences in the described parameters from those of non-vaccinated, infected mice, we conclude that the vaccine's efficacy in conveying long-term protection is 0.

#### Inducing a long-term immune-response and implications for the current study.

The immune-response to a threat can be described as arising in roughly two stages: the primary response to a new, invasive pathogen, and the secondary response to re-introduction of that pathogen into the host.<sup>36</sup> The current model of the secondary immune response suggests that the generation of memory B-cells and long-lived plasma cells, supported by memory-T cells, is required for a sustained, long-term immune response<sup>36,149,150,151</sup>. Plasma cells represent the population of B-cells that produce specific levels of antibodies to a pathogen; their production and maintenance in the long-term appear to be contingent upon the presence of so-called long-lived plasma cells (LL-PC) and the rapid re-invigoration of a protective immune response is contingent on the presence of memory B-cells<sup>152,153</sup>. One can surmise that the vaccine's lack of efficacy in conferring long-term protection was due to a failure in the systems producing a long-lived memory response.

Establishing whether memory B-cells and/or long-lived plasma cells were produced would be a guiding step in characterizing the response that took place. Following the primary immune response, plasma cell-levels in peripheral blood are reduced, and a few are sequestered by the bone marrow, where they survive for longer periods and are replenished by memory B-cells located either in the spleen or lymph nodes<sup>149,150,151,152</sup>. An examination of bone marrow, lymph nodes and spleen for antigen-specific plasma cells and memory-B cells could help to shed light on whether a memory-response was induced at all.

In an effort to expand these data on long-term protection by SP3-Tetrasaccharide, it might be advisable to include another correlates of vaccine-protection by conducting survival studies in mice. This would give an absolute measure of clinical protectivity by establishing whether improved survivability following challenge can be observed.

Strategies for improving long-term immune-response to vaccination.
#### Adjuvants

Alum is a commonly employed adjuvant, because it has a long record of safely producing a robust immune response and consequently immunity<sup>154,74–76</sup>. The relative safety of this adjuvant comes at a cost, however, when compared to the efficacy of other adjuvants, such as Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant (IFA) and CFA. The former has been shown to produce significantly stronger immune responses to vaccination than aluminum<sup>144</sup>, but is not approved for use in humans because of a relatively high frequency of potentially severe local and systemic reactions<sup>144</sup>. Even in our own experiments we were able to show that SP3-Tetrasaccharide administered with CFA produced significantly greater killing than SP3-Tetrasaccharide administered with Alum, demonstrating that also in this case, adjuvants significantly influence immune response to vaccines.

The identification and development of novel adjuvants is a topic of growing interest in research<sup>73</sup>, as they play a critical role not only in eliciting a significant immune response to vaccines, but also in influencing the course of the innate, and subsequently the adaptive, immune-response<sup>155</sup>. Identifying a suitable adjuvant for this particular pathogen may play the decisive role in promoting a sustained immune-response to the vaccine in the current study.

#### **Carrier Proteins**

As discussed in the Introduction, carrier proteins are necessary for inducing a thymus-dependent response to the vaccine to which it is conjugated<sup>39,40</sup>. Both the carrier protein itself and the linking bond to the carbohydrate-antigen play a role in the response of the immune system to a vaccine<sup>36,39,40</sup>. The type of carrier protein and its respective linkage have been shown to correlate with a varying degree of robustness of long-term immune-response when coupled with the same carbohydrate antigen<sup>35,156,157</sup>. As mentioned above, it is the magnitude of the immune response, not antigen specificity, that appears to govern the production of long-term immunity in the case of this antigen. However, the exact mechanisms that underly the generation of long-lived immune memory are still a matter of debate. An alternative carrier-protein may more strongly amplify the immune response and promote immune-memory longevity. In addition, alternative carriers, e.g. conserved pneumococcal surface proteins or virulence factors may provide useful additional vaccine targets and increase the overall efficacy of semi-synthetic and conventional PCVs.

## **VI.** Conclusions

The apparent, clear specificity of the immune response elicited by the novel semi-synthetic conjugate vaccine candidate turned out not to be long-lived under the conditions described here. Yet the achievement of that response strongly supports the conjecture that the vaccine's design and synthesis hold out considerable promise as a way of developing new, efficacious vaccines of this kind.

## VII. Bibliography

- Gray BM, Converse GM, Dillon HC. Epidemiologic Studies of Streptococcus pneumoniae in Infants: Acquisition, Carriage, and Infection during the First 24 Months of Life. *J Infect Dis*. 1980;142(6):923-933. https://academic.oup.com/jid/articlelookup/doi/10.1093/infdis/142.6.923. Accessed April 21, 2019.
- Johnson HL, Deloria-Knoll M, Levine OS, Stoszek SK, Hance LF, Reithinger R, Muenz LR, O'Brien KL. Systematic evaluation of serotypes causing invasive pneumococcal disease among children under five: The pneumococcal global serotype project. *PLoS Med.* 2010;7(10). doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000348
- 3. World Health Organisation. WHO pneumonia Fact sheet. Fact sheet N°331.
- 4. World Health Organization/United Nations International Childrens' Fund. Ending Preventable Child Deaths from Pneumonia and Diarrhoea by 2025: The integrated Global Action Plan for Pneumonia and Diarrhoea (GAPPD). *Integr Glob Action Plan Pneumonia Diarrhoea*. 2013:1-61. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2013-305429
- 5. Siber GR. Pneumococcal Disease: Prospects for a New Generation of Vaccines. *Science (80- )*. 1994;265(1994):1385-1387.
- 6. Bravo LC. Overview of the disease burden of invasive pneumococcal disease in Asia. *Vaccine*. 2009;27(52):7282-7291.
- WHO. Estimated Hib and pneumococcal deaths for children under 5 years of age, 2008. Who. 2012. http://www.who.int/immunization/monitoring\_surveillance/burden/estimates/Pneumo\_hib/en/.
- 8. Black RE, Cousens S, Johnson HL, Lawn JE, Rudan I, Bassani DG, Jha P, Campbell H, Walker CF, Cibulskis R, Eisele T, Liu L, Mathers C. Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality in 2008: a systematic analysis. *Lancet*. 2010;375(9730):1969-1987.
- 9. WHO. *WHO* | *Pneumococcal Disease*.; 2014. http://www.who.int/immunization/diseases/pneumococcal/en/index.html.
- 10. WHO. Estimated Hib and pneumococcal deaths for children under 5 years of age, 2000. WHO: Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals.
- 11. Huang SS, Johnson KM, Ray GT, Wroe P, Lieu TA, Moore MR, Zell ER, Linder JA, Grijalva CG, Metlay JP, Finkelstein JA. Healthcare utilization and cost of pneumococcal disease in the United States. *Vaccine*. 2011;29(18):3398-3412.
- 12. Heinsbroek E, Tafatatha T, Phiri A, Ngwira B, Crampin AC, Read JM, French N. Persisting high prevalence of pneumococcal carriage among HIV-infected adults receiving antiretroviral therapy in Malawi: a cohort study. *Aids*. 2015;29(14):1837-1844.
- 13. Loeb M. Pneumonia in Older Persons. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2003;37(10):1335-1339.
- O'Brien KL, Wolfson LJ, Watt JP, Henkle E, Deloria-Knoll M, McCall N, Lee E, Mulholland K, Levine OS, Cherian T. Burden of disease caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae in children younger than 5 years: global estimates. *Lancet*. 2009;374(9693):893-902.
- 15. Pilishvili T, Noggle B, Moore MR. Chapter 11: Pneumococcal Disease. In: *Manual for the Surveillance of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2012:1-11.
- Graham SM, English M, Hazir T, Enarson P, Duke T. Challenges to improving case management of childhood pneumonia at health facilities in resource-limited settings. *Bull World Health Organ.* 2008;86(5):349-355.

- 17. Tan TQ. Pediatric invasive pneumococcal disease in the United States in the era of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2012;25(3):409-419.
- 18. Hung IF-N, Tantawichien T, Tsai YH, et al. Regional epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease in Asian adults: epidemiology, disease burden, serotype distribution, and antimicrobial resistance patterns and prevention. *Int J Infect Dis.* 2013;17(6):e364-73.
- 19. Hackel M, Lascols C, Bouchillon S, Hilton B, Morgenstern D, Purdy J. Serotype prevalence and antibiotic resistance in Streptococcus pneumoniae clinical isolates among global populations. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(42):4881-4887.
- 20. Cornick JE, Bentley SD. Streptococcus pneumoniae: The evolution of antimicrobial resistance to beta-lactams, fluoroquinolones and macrolides. *Microbes Infect*. 2012;14(7-8):573-583.
- 21. Jones RN, Jacobs MR, Sader HS. Evolving trends in Streptococcus pneumoniae resistance: Implications for therapy of community-acquired bacterial pneumonia. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. 2010;36(3):197-204.
- 22. Parra EL, De La Hoz F, Díaz PL, Sanabria O, Realpe ME, Moreno J. Changes in Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype distribution in invasive disease and nasopharyngeal carriage after the heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine introduction in Bogotá, Colombia. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(37):4033-4038.
- 23. Welte T, Torres A, Nathwani D. Clinical and economic burden of community-acquired pneumonia among adults in Europe. *Thorax*. 2012;67(1):71-79.
- 24. Tate JE, Kisakye A, Mugyenyi P, Kizza D, Odiit A, Braka F. Projected health benefits and costs of pneumococcal and rotavirus vaccination in Uganda. *Vaccine*. 2011;29(17):3329-3334.
- 25. World Health Organisation. *Global Vaccine Action Plan.*; 2011.
- 26. Bhutta ZA, Das JK, Walker N, Rizvi A, Campbell H, Rudan I, Black RE. Interventions to address deaths from childhood pneumonia and diarrhoea equitably: What works and at what cost? *Lancet*. 2013;381(9875):1417-1429.
- 27. Stein KE. Thymus-Independent and Thymus-Dependent Responses to Polysaccharide Antigens. *J Infect Dis.* 1992;165:S49-S52. doi:10.1093/infdis/165-Supplement\_1-S49
- 28. Guckian JC, Christensen GD, Fine DP. The Role of Opsonins in Recovery from Experimental Pneumococcal Pneumonia. *J Infect Dis*. 1980;142(2).
- 29. Joiner KA, Brown EJ, Frank MM. Complement and bacteria: chemistry and biology in host defense. *AnnuRevImmunol*. 1984;2:461-491.
- 30. Winkelstein JA, Moxon ER. The Role of Complement in the Host's Defense against Haemophilus influenzae. *Rev Infect Dis.* 2016;165(May).
- 31. Pfizer TM. PREVNAR 13 ® CLINICAL MONOGRAPH. 2014.
- 32. Merck TM Canada Inc. Pneumovax 23 Product Monograph. 2011;23:1-38.
- 33. Rockefeller. Electon Micrograph Streptococcus. Laboratory of Bacterial Pathogenesis and Immunology. http://lab.rockefeller.edu/fischetti/strep/. Published 2019.
- 34. Stephens DS, Greenwood B, Brandtzaeg P. Epidemic meningitis, meningococcaemia, and Neisseria meningitidis. *Lancet*. 2007;369(9580):2196-2210.
- 35. Pollard AJ, Perrett KP, Beverley PC. Maintaining protection against invasive bacteria with protein–polysaccharide conjugate vaccines. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2009;426(2000):422-426.
- 36. Abbas. Cellular and Molecular Immunology 7. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2002.

- 37. Timens W, Boes A, Rozeboom-Uiterwijk T, Poppema S. Immaturity of the human splenic marginal zone in infancy. Possible contribution to the deficient infant immune response. *J Immunol.* 1989;143(10):3200-3206.
- 38. Zegers BJM, Van Der Giessen M, Reerink-Brongers EE, Stoop JW. The Serum IgG Subclass Levels In Healthy Infants of 13-62 Weeks of Age. *Clin Chim Acta*. 1980;101(2-3):265-269.
- 39. Stein KE. Thymus-Independent and Thymus-Dependent Responses to Polysaccharide Antigens. *J Infect Dis.* 1992;165:S49-S52.
- 40. Lepenies B, Seeberger PH. The promise of glycomics, glycan arrays and carbohydrate-based vaccines. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol*. 2010;32(2):196-207.
- 41. Jennings H. Further Approaches for Optimizing Polysaccharide-Protein Conjugate Vaccines for Prevention of Invasive Bacterial Disease. *J Infect Dis.* 1992;165:S156-S159.
- 42. Poland GA. The burden of pneumococcal disease: the role of conjugate vaccines. *Vaccine*. 1999;17(13-14):1674-1679.
- 43. Guttormsen HK, Sharpe AH, Chandraker AK, Brigtsen AK, Sayegh MH, Kasper DL. Cognate stimulatory B-cell-T-cell interactions are critical for T-cell help recruited by glycoconjugate vaccines. *Infect Immun.* 1999.
- 44. Avci FY, Li X, Tsuji M, Kasper DL. A mechanism for glycoconjugate vaccine activation of the adaptive immune system and its implications for vaccine design. *Nat Med.* 2011;17:1602. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2535.
- 45. Rappuoli R, De Gregorio E. A sweet T cell response. *Nat Med.* 2011;17:1551. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2587.
- 46. Guttormsen HK, Sharpe AH, Chandraker AK, Brigtsen AK, Sayegh MH, Kasper DL. Cognate stimulatory B-cell-T-cell interactions are critical for T-cell help recruited by glycoconjugate vaccines. *Infect Immun.* 1999;67(12):6375-6384. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10569753. Accessed April 20, 2019.
- 47. Pollard AJ, Perrett KP, Beverley PC. Maintaining protection against invasive bacteria with protein-polysaccharide conjugate vaccines. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2009;9(3):213-220.
- 48. Anish C, Schumann B, Pereira CL, Seeberger PH. Chemical biology approaches to designing defined carbohydrate vaccines. *Chem Biol.* 2014;21(1):38-50.
- 49. GlaxoSmithKline. Synflorix, Pneumococcal polysaccharide conjugate vaccine. Summars of product characteristics. *Eur Med Agency*. 2009.
- 50. WHO. Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. *Recommendations to Assure the Quality , Safety and Efficacy of Diphtheria Vaccines.*; 2014.
- 51. Esposito S, Tansey S, Thompson A, Razmpour A, Liang J, Jones TR, Ferrera G, Maida A, Bona G, Sabatini C, Pugni L, Emini EA, Gruber WC, Scott DA, Principi N. Safety and immunogenicity of a 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine compared to those of a 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine given as a three-dose series with routine vaccines in healthy infants and toddlers. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* 2010;17(6):1017-1026.
- 52. Rappuoli R, Black S, Lambert PH. Vaccine discovery and translation of new vaccine technology. *Lancet*. 2011;378(9788):360-368.
- 53. Goldblatt D, Levinsky RJ, Turner MW. Role of cell wall polysaccharide in the assessment of igg antibodies to the capsular polysaccharides of streptococcus pneumoniae in childhood. *J Infect Dis.* 1992;166(3):632-634.
- 54. Pujar NS, Huang NF, Daniels CL, Dieter L, Gayton MG, Lee AL. Base hydrolysis of

phosphodiester bonds in pneumococcal polysaccharides. *Biopolymers*. 2004;75(1):71-84.

- 55. Sturgess A, Rusk K, Charbonneau R, Lee J, West D. Haemophilus influenzae type b conjugate vaccine stability: catalytic depolymerization of PRP in the presence of aluminium hydroxide. *Vaccine*. 1999;17:1169-1178.
- Schumann B, Anish C, Pereira CL, Seeberger PH. CHAPTER 3. Carbohydrate Vaccines. In: Lyn H. Jones AJM, ed. *Biotherapeutics: Recent Developments Using Chemical and Molecular Biology*. Weinheim; 2014:68-104.
- 57. Seeberger PH, Werz DB. Synthesis and medical applications of oligosaccharides. *Nature*. 2007;446(7139):1046-1051.
- Butler JC, Shapiro ED, Carlone GM. Pneumococcal vaccines: history, current status, and future directions. *Am J Med.* 1999;107(1A):69S-76S. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10451012.
- 59. Kalin M. Pneumococcal serotypes and their clinical relevance. *Thorax*. 1998;53(3):159-162.
- Benaissa-Trouw B, Lefeber DJ, Kamerling JP, Vliegenthart JFG, Kraaijeveld K, Snippe H. Synthetic Polysaccharide Type 3-Related Di-, Tri-, and Tetrasaccharide–CRM 197 Conjugates Induce Protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae Type 3 in Mice. *Infect Immun*. 2001;69(7):4698-4701. doi:10.1128/IAI.69.7.4698–4701.2001
- 61. Frenck RW, Gurtman A, Rubino J, Smith W, van Cleeff M, Jayawardene D, Giardina PC, Emini EA, Gruber WC, Scott DA, Schmöle-Thoma B. Randomized, controlled trial of a 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine administered concomitantly with an influenza vaccine in healthy adults. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*. 2012;19(8):1296-1303.
- 62. Song JY, Moseley MA, Burton RL, Nahm MH. Pneumococcal vaccine and opsonic pneumococcal antibody. *J Infect Chemother*. 2013;19(3):412-425.
- 63. Kuno A, Uchiyama N, Koseki-Kuno S, Ebe Y, Takashima S, Yamada M, Hirabayashi J. Evanescent-field fluorescence-assisted lectin microarray: a new strategy for glycan profiling. *Nat Methods*. 2005;2(11):851-856.
- 64. Parameswarappa SG, Reppe K, Geissner A, Ménová P, Govindan S, Calow ADJ, Wahlbrink A, Weishaupt MW, Monnanda BP, Bell RL, Pirofski LA, Suttorp N, Sander LE, Witzenrath M, Pereira CL, Anish C, Seeberger PH. A Semi-synthetic Oligosaccharide Conjugate Vaccine Candidate Confers Protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae Serotype 3 Infection. *Cell Chem Biol.* 2016;23(11):1407-1416.
- 65. Giannini G, Rappuoli R, Ratti G. The amino-acid sequence of two non toxic mutants of diphtheria toxin:CRM45 and CRM197. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1984;12(10):4063-4069.
- 66. Mekada E, Okada Y, Uchida T. Identification of diphtheria toxin receptor and a nonproteinous diphtheria toxin-binding molecule in Vero cell membrane. *J Cell Biol.* 1988;107(2):511-519.
- 67. Shinefield HR. Overview of the development and current use of CRM197 conjugate vaccines for pediatric use. *Vaccine*. 2010;28(27):4335-4339.
- 68. Parameswarappa SG, Reppe K, Geissner A, Ménová P, Govindan S, Calow ADJ, Wahlbrink A, Weishaupt MW, Monnanda BP, Bell RL, Pirofski LA, Suttorp N, Sander LE, Witzenrath M, Pereira CL, Anish C, Seeberger PH. A Semi-synthetic Oligosaccharide Conjugate Vaccine Candidate Confers Protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae Serotype 3 Infection. *Cell Chem Biol.* 2016;23(11):1407-1416. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2016.09.016
- 69. Kool M, Petrilli V, De Smedt T, Rolaz A, Hammad H, van Nimwegen M, Bergen IM, Castillo R, Lambrecht BN, Tschopp J. Cutting Edge: Alum Adjuvant Stimulates Inflammatory Dendritic Cells through Activation of the NALP3 Inflammasome. *J Immunol*.

2008;181(6):3755-3759.

- Calabro S, Tortoli M, Baudner BC, Pacitto A, Cortese M, O'Hagan DT, De Gregorio E, Seubert A, Wack A. Vaccine adjuvants alum and MF59 induce rapid recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes that participate in antigen transport to draining lymph nodes. *Vaccine*. 2011;29(9):1812-1823.
- 71. Coffman RL, Sher A, Seder RA. Vaccine adjuvants: Putting innate immunity to work. *Immunity*. 2010;33(4):492-503.
- 72. Abbas A, Lichtman A, Pillai S. *Cellular and Molecular Immunology*. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2010.
- 73. Coffman RL, Sher A, Seder RA. Vaccine adjuvants: Putting innate immunity to work. *Immunity*. 2010;33(4):492-503.
- 74. Oleszycka E, Lavelle EC. Immunomodulatory properties of the vaccine adjuvant alum. *Curr Opin Immunol.* 2014;28(1):1-5.
- 75. De Gregorio E, Tritto E, Rappuoli R. Alum adjuvanticity: Unraveling a century old mystery. *Eur J Immunol*. 2008;38(8):2068-2071.
- 76. Philippa Marrack, Amy S. McKee MWM. Towards an understanding of the adjuvant action of aluminium. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2009;9(4):287-293.
- 77. InvivoGen. CFA. Complete Freund's Adjuvant. Information Sheet. 2000.
- 78. Lindblad EB. Vaccine Adjuvants. In: O'Hagan DT, ed. *Vaccine Adjuvants: Preparation Methods and Research Protocols*. Totowa: Humana Press; 2000:49-63.
- 79. Schmidt CS, Mescher MF. Adjuvant effect of IL-12: conversion of peptide antigen administration from tolerizing to immunizing for CD8+ T cells in vivo. *J Immunol*. 1999;163(5):2561-2567.
- Beck L, Spiegelberg HL. The polyclonal and antigen-specific IgE and IgG subclass response of mice injected with ovalbumin in alum or complete Freund's adjuvant. *Cell Immunol*. 1989;123(1):1-8.
- 81. WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. WHO Technical Report Series 927. Fifty-fourth Report. Annex1 WHO Guidelines on nonclinical evaluation of vaccines. 2005.
- 82. WHO. *WHO/Health Canada Consultation on Serological Criteria for Evaluation and Licensing of New Pneumococcal Vaccines*. Ottawa; 2008.
- 83. Schmeck B, Zahlten J, Moog K, Van Laak V, Huber S, Hocke AC, Opitz B, Hoffmann E, Kracht M, Zerrahn J, Hammerschmidt S, Rosseau S, Suttorp N, Hippenstiel S. Streptococcus pneumoniae-induced p38 MAPK-dependent phosphorylation of RelA at the interleukin-8 promotor. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(51):53241-53247.
- 84. Witzenrath M, Gutbier B, Hocke AC, Schmeck B, Hippenstiel S, Berger K, Mitchell TJ, de los Toyos JR, Rosseau S, Suttorp N, Schütte H. Role of pneumolysin for the development of acute lung injury in pneumococcal pneumonia. *Crit Care Med.* 2006;34(7):1947-1954.
- 85. Witzenrath M, Pache F, Lorenz D, et al. The NLRP3 Inflammasome Is Differentially Activated by Pneumolysin Variants and Contributes to Host Defense in Pneumococcal Pneumonia. *J Immunol.* 2011;187(1):434-440.
- 86. Reppe K, Tschernig T, Luhrmann A, Van Laak V, Grote K, Zemlin M V., Gutbier B, Miiller HC, Kursar M, Schiitte H, Rosseau S, Pabst R, Suttorp N, Witzenrath M. Immunostimulation with macrophage-activating lipopeptide-2 increased survival in murine pneumonia. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* 2009;40(4):474-481.

- 87. Collins SJ, Ruscetti FW, Gallagher RE, Gallo RC. Terminal differentiation of human promyelocytic leukemia cells induced by dimethyl sulfoxide and other polar compounds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1978;75(5):2458-2462.
- Collins SJ. The HL-60 promyelocytic leukemia cell line: proliferation, differentiation, and cellular oncogene expression. *Blood*. 1987;70(5):1233 LP - 1244. http://www.bloodjournal.org/content/70/5/1233.abstract.
- 89. Guckian JC, Christensen GD, Fine DP. The Role of Opsonins in Recovery from Experimental Pneumococcal Pneumonia. *J Infect Dis*. 1980;142(2):175-190.
- 90. H A Verbrugh, P K Peterson, B Y Nguyen SPS and YK. Opsonization of encapsulated Staphylococcus aureus. *J Immunol*. 1982;129(4):1681-1687.
- 91. Engvall E, Perlmann P. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) quantitative assay of immunoglobulin G. *Immunochemistry*. 1971;8(9):871-874.
- 92. Romero-Steiner S, Libutti D, Pais LB, Dykes J, Anderson P, Whitin JC, Keyserling HL, Carlone GM. Standardization of an opsonophagocytic assay for the measurement of functional antibody activity against Streptococcus pneumoniae using differentiated HL-60 cells. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* 1997;4(4):415-422.
- 93. Lems-Van Kan P, Verspaget HW, Peña AS. ELISA assay for quantitative measurement of human immunoglobulins IgA, IgG, and IgM in nanograms. *J Immunol Methods*. 1983;57(1-3):51-57.
- 94. Bruyn G a, Zegers BJ, van Furth R. Mechanisms of host defense against infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2015;14(1):251-262.
- 95. Wang Q, Doerschuk CM, Mizgerd JP. Neutrophils in Innate Immunity. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med.* 2004;25(1):33-41.
- 96. Craig A, Mai J, Cai S, Jeyaseelan S. Neutrophil recruitment to the lungs during bacterial pneumonia. *Infect Immun*. 2009;77(2):568-575.
- 97. Fleck RA, Romero-Steiner S, Nahm MH. Use of HL-60 cell line to measure opsonic capacity of pneumococcal antibodies. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* 2005;12(1):19-27.
- 98. Romero-Steiner S, Frasch C, Concepcion N, Goldblatt D, Käyhty H, Väkeväinen M, Laferriere C, Wauters D, Nahm MH, Schinsky MF, Plikaytis BD, Carlone GM. Multilaboratory evaluation of a viability assay for measurement of opsonophagocytic antibodies specific to the capsular polysaccharides of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* 2003;10(6):1019-1024.
- 99. Gallagher R, Collins S, Trujillo J, McCredie K, Ahearn M, Tsai S, Metzgar R, Aulakh G, Ting R, Ruscetti F, Gallo R. Characterization of the continuous, differentiating myeloid cell line (HL-60) from a patient with acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Blood.* 1979;54(3):713-733.
- 100. Fleck R a, Nahm MH. Use of HL-60 Cell Line To Measure Opsonic Capacity of Pneumococcal Antibodies. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*. 2005;12(1):19-27.
- 101. Romero-Steiner S, Frasch CE, Carlone G, Fleck R a., Goldblatt D, Nahm MH. Use of opsonophagocytosis for serological evaluation of pneumococcal vaccines. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*. 2006;13(2):165-169.
- Chiavolini D, Pozzi G, Ricci S. Animal models of Streptococcus pneumoniae disease. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2008;21(4):666-685.
- Snippe H, van Houte AJ, van Dam JEG, De Reuver MJ, Jansze M, Willers JM. Immunogenic properties in mice of hexasaccharide from the capsular polysaccharide of Streptococcus pneumoniae type 3. *Infect Immun*. 1983;40(3):856-861.

- 104. Gonnert FA, Recknagel P, Seidel M, Jbeily N, Dahlke K, Bockmeyer CL, Winning J, Lösche W, Claus RA, Bauer M. Characteristics of clinical sepsis reflected in a reliable and reproducible rodent sepsis model. J Surg Res. 2011;170(1):123-134.
- 105. Canvin JR, Marvin AP, Sivakumaran M, Paton JC, Boulnois GJ, Andrew PW, Mitchell TJ. The Role of Pneumolysin and Autolysin in the Pathology of Pneumonia and Septicemia in Mice Infected with a Type 2 Pneumococcus. J Infect Dis. 1995;172(1):119-123.
- 106. Laterre P-F, Garber G, Levy H, Wunderink R, Kinasewitz GT, Sollet J-P, Maki DG, Bates B, Yan SCB, Dhainaut J-F. Severe community-acquired pneumonia as a cause of severe sepsis: data from the PROWESS study. *Crit Care Med.* 2005;33(5):952-961.
- 107. Briles DE, Hollingshead SK, Paton JC, Ades EW, Novak L, van Ginkel FW, Benjamin WH. Immunizations with pneumococcal surface protein A and pneumolysin are protective against pneumonia in a murine model of pulmonary infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Infect Dis.* 2003;188(3):339-348.
- 108. Jakobsen H, Bjarnarson S, Del Giudice G, Moreau M, Siegrist CA, Jonsdottir I. Intranasal immunization with pneumococcal conjugate vaccines with LT-K63, a nontoxic mutant of heatlabile enterotoxin, as adjuvant rapidly induces protective immunity against lethal pneumococcal infections in neonatal mice. *Infect Immun*. 2002;70(3):1443-1452.
- 109. Burns AR, Smith CW, Walker DC. Unique structural features that influence neutrophil emigration into the lung. *Physiol Rev.* 2003;83(2):309-336.
- 110. Nathan C. Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2006;6(3):173-182.
- Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, Weinrauch Y, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science (80-)*. 2004;303(5663):1532-1535.
- 112. Tillett WS, Francis T. Serological reactions in pneumonia with a non-protein somatic fraction of Pneumococcus. *J Exp Med.* 1930;52(4):561-571.
- Mold C, Rodic-Polic B, Du Clos TW. Protection from Streptococcus pneumoniae infection by C-reactive protein and natural antibody requires complement but not Fc gamma receptors. J Immunol. 2002;168(12):6375-6381.
- 114. Vilar J, Domingo ML, Soto C, Cogollos J. Radiology of bacterial pneumonia. *Eur J Radiol*. 2004;51(2):102-113.
- 115. Gharib AM, Stern EJ. Radiology of pneumonia. Med Clin North Am. 2001;85(6):1461-1491.
- 116. Weitzman M. Diagnostic utility of white blood cell and differential cell counts. *Am J Dis Child*. 1975;129(10):1183-1189.
- 117. Romero-Steiner S, Musher DM, Cetron MS, Pais LB, Groover JE, Carlone GM. Reduction in Functional Antibody Activity Against Streptococcus pneumoniae in Vaccinated Elderly Individuals Highly Correlates with Decreased IgG Antibody Avidity. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1999;29(2):281-288.
- 118. Vos Q, Lees A, Wu ZQ, Snapper CM, Mond JJ. B-cell activation by T-cell-independent type 2 antigens as an integral part of the humoral immune response to pathogenic microorganisms. *Immunol Rev.* 2000;176:154-170. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2000.00607.x
- 119. Benner R, Hijmans W, Haaijman JJ. The bone marrow: the major source of serum immunoglobulins, but still a neglected site of antibody formation. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 1981;46(1):1-8.
- 120. Knapp S, Leemans JC, Florquin S, Branger J, Maris NA, Pater J, Van Rooijen N, Van der Poll

T. Alveolar macrophages have a protective antiinflammatory role during murine pneumococcal pneumonia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 2003;167(2):171-179.

- 121. Clement CG, Evans SE, Evans CM, Hawke D, Kobayashi R, Reynolds PR, Moghaddam SJ, Scott BL, Melicoff E, Adachi R, Dickey BF, Tuvim MJ. Stimulation of lung innate immunity protects against lethal pneumococcal pneumonia in mice. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 2008;177(12):1322-1330.
- 122. de Jager CPC, Wever PC, Gemen EFA, Kusters R, van Gageldonk-Lafeber AB, van der Poll T, Laheij RJF. The Neutrophil-Lymphocyte Count Ratio in Patients with Community-Acquired Pneumonia. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(10).
- 123. Curbelo J, Bueno SL, Galván-Román JM, Ortega-Gómez M, Rajas O, Fernández-Jiménez G, Vega-Piris L, Rodríguez-Salvanes F, Arnalich B, Díaz A, Costa R, De La Fuente H, Lancho Á, Suárez C, Ancochea J, Aspa J. Inflammation biomarkers in blood as mortality predictors in community-acquired pneumonia admitted patients: Importance of comparison with neutrophil count percentage or neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio. *PLoS One.* 2017;12(3).
- 124. Baird BR, Cheronis JC, Sandhaus RA, Berger EM, White CW, Repine JE. O2 metabolites and neutrophil elastase synergistically cause edematous injury in isolated rat lungs. *J Appl Physiol*. 1986;61(6):2224-2229.
- 125. Yang G, Gorshkov B, Sridhar S, Verin A, Lucas R, Hamacher JJ, White R, Chakraborty T, Gorshkov B, White R, Sridhar S, Verin A, Chakraborty T, Lucas R. The dual role of TNF in pulmonary edema. *J Cardiovasc Dis Res.* 2010;1(1):29-36.
- 126. Guntupalli KK. Acute pulmonary edema. Cardiol Clin. 1984;2(2):183-200.
- 127. BROBECK JR. Best and Taylor's Physiological Basis of Medical Practice. In: *Optometry and Vision Science*. Vol 54. 7th ed. London: Bailliere, TIndal & Cox, Ltd.; 1977:62.
- 128. Hauge A, Bø G, Waaler BA. Interrelations between pulmonary liquid volumes and lung compliance. *J Appl Physiol*. 1975;38(4):608-614.
- Hauge A, Bø G, Aarseth P. Hydrostatic Pulmonary Edema in the Cat. Effects on Pulmonary Blood and Water Volumes and on Lung Compliance. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 1977;21(5):413-422.
- 130. Boron WF, Boulpaep EL. Medical Physiology. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Saunders-Elsevier; 2009.
- 131. Zhang Z, Kleinstreuer C. Computational analysis of airflow and nanoparticle deposition in a combined nasal-oral-tracheobronchial airway model. *J Aerosol Sci.* 2011;42(3):174-194.
- 132. Fliegauf M, Sonnen AFP, Kremer B, Henneke P. Mucociliary Clearance Defects in a Murine In Vitro Model of Pneumococcal Airway Infection. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(3).
- 133. Boron WF, Boulpaep EL. Medical Physiology. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Saunders-Elsevier; 2009.
- 134. Sompayrac L. How the Immune System Works. 3d ed. Malden: Blackwell; 2008.
- 135. Abbas A, Lichtman A, Pillai S. *Cellular and Molecular Immunology*. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2010.
- 136. Feldman C, Munro NC, Jeffery PK, Mitchell TJ, Andrew PW, Boulnois GJ, Guerreiro D, Rohde JA, Todd HC, Cole PJ. Pneumolysin induces the salient histologic features of pneumococcal infection in the rat lung in vivo. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1991;5(5):416-423.
- 137. Gutbier B. Die Bedeutung von Pneumolysin für die Entstehung des akuten Lungenversagens bei Pneumokokkenpneumonie. 2008.
- 138. Witzenrath M, Gutbier B, Hocke AC, Schmeck B, Hippenstiel S, Berger K, Mitchell TJ, de los Toyos JR, Rosseau S, Suttorp N, Schütte H. Role of pneumolysin for the development of acute

lung injury in pneumococcal pneumonia. Crit Care Med. 2006;34(7):1947-1954.

- 139. Jódar L, Butler J, Carlone G, Dagan R, Goldblatt D, Käyhty H, Klugman K, Plikaytis B, Siber G, Kohberger R, Chang I, Cherian T. Serological criteria for evaluation and licensure of new pneumococcal conjugate vaccine formulations for use in infants. *Vaccine*. 2003;21(23):3265-3272.
- 140. Rose CE, Romero-Steiner S, Burton RL, et al. Multilaboratory comparison of Streptococcus pneumoniae opsonophagocytic killing assays and their level of agreement for the determination of functional antibody activity in human reference sera. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*. 2011;18(1):135-142.
- Örtqvist Å, Henckaerts I, Hedlund J, Poolman J. Non-response to specific serotypes likely cause for failure to 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in the elderly. *Vaccine*. 2007;25(13):2445-2450.
- 142. Musher DM, Phan HM, Watson DA, Baughn RE. Antibody to capsular polysaccharide of Streptococcus pneumoniae at the time of hospital admission for Pneumococcal pneumonia. J Infect Dis. 2000;182(1):158-167.
- 143. Grun JL, Maurer PH. Different T helper cell subsets elicited in mice utilizing two different adjuvant vehicles: The role of endogenous interleukin 1 in proliferative responses. *Cell Immunol.* 1989;121(1):134-145.
- 144. Miller LH, Saul A, Mahanty S. Revisiting Freund's incomplete adjuvant for vaccines in the developing world. *Trends Parasitol*. 2005;21(9):412-414.
- 145. Chang JCC, Diveley JP, Savary JR, Jensen FC. Adjuvant activity of incomplete Freund's adjuvant. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 1998;32(3):173-186.
- 146. Kubes P, Suzuki M, Granger DN. Modulation of PAF-induced leukocyte adherence and increased microvascular permeability. *Am J Physiol*. 1990;259(5):G859-G864.
- 147. Sirois MG, de Lima WT, Fernandes AJ de B, Johnson RJ, Plante GE, Sirois P. Effect of PAF on rat lung vascular permeability: role of platelets and polymorphonuclear leucocytes. *Br J Pharmacol.* 1994;111(4):1111-1116.
- 148. Farrukh IS, Sciuto AM, Spannhake EW, Gurtner GH, Michael JR. Leukotriene D 4 Increases Pulmonary Vascular Permeability and Pressure by Different Mechanisms in the Rabbit 12. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1986;134(2):229-232.
- 149. Hibi T, Dosch HM, Ig T. Limiting dilution analysis of the B cell compartment in human bone marrow. *Eur J Immunol*. 1986;16(2):139-145.
- 150. Slifka MK, Ahmed R. Long-lived plasma cells: A mechanism for maintaining persistent antibody production. *Curr Opin Immunol*. 1998;10(3):252-258.
- 151. Lambert P-H, Liu M, Siegrist C-A. Can successful vaccines teach us how to induce efficient protective immune responses? *Nat Med*. 2005;11(4 Suppl):S54-62.
- 152. Mandels TE, Phippsi RP, Abbot A, Tew JG. The Follicular Dendritic Cell: Long Term Antigen Retention During Immunity. *Immunol Rev.* 1980;53(1):29-59.
- 153. Gray D. Immunological memory. Annu Rev Immunol. 1993;11:49-77.
- 154. Kool M, Fierens K, Lambrecht BN. Alum adjuvant: Some of the tricks of the oldest adjuvant. *J Med Microbiol*. 2012;61(PART7):927-934.
- 155. Mannhalter JW, Neychev HO, Zlabinger GJ, Ahmad R, Eibl MM. Modulation of the human immune response by the non-toxic and non-pyrogenic adjuvant aluminium hydroxide: effect on antigen uptake and antigen presentation. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 1985;61(1):143-151.

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1577243&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract.

- 156. Decker MD, Edwards KM, Bradley R, Palmer P. Comparative trial in infants of four conjugate Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccines. *J Pediatr*. 1992;120(2 PART 1):184-189.
- 157. Peeters CCAM, Tenbergen-Meekes AM, Poolman JT, Beurret M, Zegers BJM, Rijkers GT. Effect of carrier priming on immunogenicity of saccharide-protein conjugate vaccines. *Infect Immun.* 1991;59(10):3504-3510.

# VIII. Statutory Declaration

"I, Roland Bell, by personally signing this document in lieu of an oath, hereby affirm that I prepared the submitted dissertation on the topic A semi-synthetic glycoconjugate vaccine for Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 3 confers short-term protection against pneumonia in mice, independently and without the support of third parties, and that I used no other sources and aids than those stated.

All parts which are based on the publications or presentations of other authors, either in letter or in spirit, are specified as such in accordance with the citing guidelines. The sections on methodology (in particular regarding practical work, laboratory regulations, statistical processing) and results (in particular regarding figures, charts and tables) are exclusively my responsibility.

My contributions to any publications to this dissertation correspond to those stated in the below joint declaration made together with the supervisor. All publications created within the scope of the dissertation comply with the guidelines of the ICMJE (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors; www.icmje.org) on authorship. In addition, I declare that I am aware of the regulations of Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin on ensuring good scientific practice and that I commit to comply with these regulations.

The significance of this statutory declaration and the consequences of a false statutory declaration under criminal law (Sections 156, 161 of the German Criminal Code) are known to me."

Date

Signature

# **IX. Declaration of contribution to publications**

Roland Bell contributed the following to the below listed publication:

Publication 1: Parameswarappa SG, Reppe K, Geissner A, Ménová P, Govindan S, Calow ADJ, Wahlbrink A, Weishaupt MW, Monnanda BP, Bell RL, Pirofski LA, Suttorp N, Sander LE, Witzenrath M, Pereira CL, Anish C, Seeberger PH. A Semi-synthetic Oligosaccharide Conjugate Vaccine Candidate Confers Protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae Serotype 3 Infection Cell Chemistry and Biology. Volume 23, Issue 11, p1407–1416, 17 November 2016.

Specific Contributions : Figure 5- Page 1412, Figure 6-Page 1413, Figure 7-Seite 1414, and Figures S5 & S6 in ,Supplemental Figures'

Signature, date and stamp of supervising university professor / lecturer

Signature of doctoral candidate

### X. Lebenslauf

Mein Lebenslauf wird aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen in der elektronischen Version meiner Arbeit nicht veröffentlicht.

# XI. Publikationen

### Abstrakte

- R.L. Bell, N. Omelchenko, S.R. Sesack. Lateral habenula projections to the ventral tegmental area in the rat synapse onto dopamine and GABA neurons. *Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting*. Nov. 3-7 San Diego, CA., 2007.\*
- J. Balcita Pedicino, N. Omelchenko, R. Bell, S. R. Sesack. The rostromedial mesopontine tegmentum as a relay between the lateral habenula and dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area: Ultrastructural evidence in the rat. *Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting*. Oct. 17-21, Chicago, IL., 2009.\*
- Reppe K, Anish C, Bell R, Parameswarappa SG, Govindan S, Pereira CL, Dietert K4, Sander L, Gruber AD, Suttorp N, Seeberger PH, Witzenrath M. The synthetic Streptococcus pneumoniae oligosaccharide conjugate protected mice from severe pneumonia. *European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, Annual Meeting. 27-30 April, 2013. Berlin, Germany.
- Reppe K, Chakkumkal A, Bell R, Pereira CL, Dietert K, Sander L, Gruber AD, Suttorp N, Seeberger PH, Witzenrath M. Eine synthetische S. pneumoniae Oligosaccharid-Konjugatvakzine schützt Mäuse vor Pneumonie. *Herbsttagung der Sektion Zellbiologie der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Pneumologie*. 25-16 October, 2013. Marburg, Germany.

#### Artikel

- Natalia Omelchenko, Roland Bell, and Susan R. Sesack. Lateral Habenula Projections to the Rat Ventral Tegmental Area: Sparse Synapses Observed Onto Dopamine and GABA Neurons. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 30(7): 1239–1250.\*
- Judith Joyce Balcita-Pedicino, Natalia Omelchenko, Roland Bell, Susan R. Sesack. The inhibitory influence of the lateral habenula on midbrain dopamine cells: Ultrastructural evidence for indirect mediation via the rostromedial mesopontine tegmental nucleus. *The Journal of Comparative Neuroanatomy*. 2011 Apr 15; 519(6): 1143-1164.\*

\* Die Daten dieser Publikationen im Bereich Neuroanatomie habe ich im Jahr 2007 auch auf einem Jahrestreffen der Society For Neuroscience vorgestellt.

Sharavathi Guddehalli Parameswarappa, Katrin Reppe, Andreas Geissner, Petra Ménová, Subramanian Govindan, Adam D.J. Calow, Annette Wahlbrink, Markus W. Weishaupt, Bopanna Ponnappa Monnanda, Roland Lawrence Bell, Liise-Anne Pirofski, Norbert Suttorp, Leif Erik Sander, Martin Witzenrath, Claney Lebev Pereira, Chakkumkal Anish, Peter H. Seeberger. A Semi-synthetic Oligosaccharide Conjugate Vaccine Candidate Confers Protection against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* Serotype 3 Infection. *Cell Chemical Biology*. Published online: November 3, 2016

### Symposien

*Habenula: Crossroad between the Basal Ganglia and the Limbic System.* Die präsentierenden Autoren waren: Okihide Hikosaka, Susan R. Sesack, Lucas Lecourtier, and Paul D. Shepard. Zitat: The Journal of Neuroscience, November 12, 2008, 28(46):11825-11829; doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3463-08.2008

## XII. Thanks

For my advisors: Leif, Martin and Katrin, who so patiently guided me through the process of completing this project.

For my father, who forever fosters diligence and discipline in everything he puts his hands to.

For Susanne.

For Susan and Natalia, who supported my first ambitions in scientific research, and whose commitment and passion for advancing our understanding of the natural world has inspired me to do the same.

For my mother, without whose support I would be nothing.

For Julia, Adrianne and Philippa. For Adrian and for James.